

Women, Peace and Security and the Prevention of Violence:

Reflections from Civil Society in the Context of the Fourth Swiss National Action Plan 1325







Acknowledgements

This publication was developed in the context of the project, "Civil Society Contribution to the Implementation of the Swiss NAP 1325," jointly led by PeaceWomen Across the Globe (PWAG), the Swiss Platform for Peacebuilding KOFF at swisspeace, and cfd - The feminist Peace Organisation. Together, we would like to thank the following individuals for their contributions to this project and the preparation of this report. This publication would not have been possible without the sustained effort of the project steering committee, the advisory group, and all the civil society organizations and individual who were interviewed and consulted. Additional thanks to Coalition for Peace in Africa (COPA) and Green String Network (GSN) for their hospitality and assistance in our field research in Kenya. We would also like to thank the Swiss Federal Department of Foreign Affairs for supporting and funding the continuous and constructive dialogue between state and non-state actors engaged in the implementation of the Swiss NAP 1325 through this project.

Principal Author and Researcher

Elizabeth Mesok, KOFF, swisspeace

Project Steering Committee

cfd - The feminist Peace Organisation (cfd): Carmen Meyer, Virginie Poyetton

KOFF, swisspeace: Andrea Grossenbacher, Anna Leissing

PeaceWomen Across the Globe (PWAG): Mithra Akhbari, Flurina Derungs, Andrea Filippi

Advisory Group

Center for Security Studies (CSS): Anna Hess

The Gender Centre at the Graduate Institute of International and Development Studies: Christelle Rigual

Geneva Call: Sandra Krähenmann, Carla Ruta

Geneva Centre for Security Sector Governance (DCAF): Daniel de Torres

Global Community Engagement and Resilience Fund (GCERF): Amanda Fazzone, Kevin Osborne

Global Ecovillage Network-Suisse: René Hirschi

Group for Switzerland Without an Army (GSoA): Nicolas Félix, Magdalena Küng

HEKS: Rahel Hürzeler

HELVETAS Swiss Intercooperation: Regula Gattiker, Anja Seiler **Lucerne Initiative for Peace and Security (LIPS):** Peter Ottiger

Mission 21: Josefina Hurtado

Peace Brigades International (PBI): Sibylle Ganz-Koechlin, Anna Manconi

swisspeace: Fairlie Chappuis

Swiss Peace Council (Schweizerischer Friedensrat): Jenny Heeb Women for Peace (Frauen* für den Frieden): Agnes Hohl

Report Design and Layout

Amélie Lustenberger, KOFF, swisspeace

Dedication

KOFF, swisspeace, PWAG and cfd would like to thank the civil society actors who graciously agreed to be interviewed for this report and who shared their experiences and knowledge. This report is dedicated to all those who tirelessly advocate for women's rights and for a more peaceful world.

Published: September 2019 / **Pictures:** Street Art by Swoon. Creative Commons

Table of Contents

| Acknowledgments | 2 |
|---|----------------|
| Acronyms | 4 |
| Executive Summary | 5 |
| Introduction | 8 |
| Project Background and Rationale Integrating the WPS and P/CVE Agendas: An Overview Objectives, Context, and Methodology | 8 9 11 |
| Part I: Critical Reflections on the P/CVE Agenda | _12 |
| 1. The Issue of Language 2. P/CVE as a Donor Driven Agenda 3. The Shrinking of Civil Society Space 4. CT, P/CVE, and Human Rights Violations 5. P/CVE and Islamophobia | 16 19 22 |
| Part II: WPS and the Prevention of Violence | 26 |
| 6. Women's Access to Decision-Making in Peace and Security 7. Gender Stereotypes in the P/CVE Agenda 8. Women's Agency and Gendered Harms in the Context of "Violent Extremism" | 30 |
| Conclusion: Resistance and Transformation | _37 |
| Policy Recommendations | 38 |
| Bibliography | 41 |

Acronyms

ATPU Anti-Terror Police Unit

CBO Community Based Organization

CEDAW Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women

CSO Civil Society Organization

CT Counterterrorism

CVE Countering Terrorism Financing
CVE Countering Violent Extremism

EJK Extra-Judicial Killing

FDFA Federal Department of Foreign Affairs

HSD Human Security DivisionHURIA Human Rights Agenda

ICAN International Civil Society Action Network

IDAG Interdepartmental Working Group

KNCHR Kenya National Commission on Human Rights

MUHURI Muslims for Human Rights

NAP National Action Plan

NCTC National Counter-Terrorism Centre

NSCVE National Strategy to Counter Violent Extremism

NGO Non-governmental Organization

P/CVE Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism

PVE Preventing Violent Extremism

SAVE Sisters Against Violent Extremism
SUPKEM Supreme Council of Kenya Muslims

UNDP United Nations Development Programme
UNSCR United Nations Security Council Resolution

WG 1325 Working Group 1325

WHRDs Women Human Rights Defenders

WPS Women, Peace and Security

YADEN Youth, Arts, Development and Entrepreneurship Network

Executive Summary

This report is the result of extensive desk-based research, interviews, and continuous discussions with civil society organizations (CSOs) and experts on Women, Peace and Security (WPS) and Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism (P/CVE).¹ The genesis for this report emerged in 2016, when the Swiss civil society Working Group (WG) 1325 raised the need to critically assess the linking of the WPS and P/CVE agendas in the independent alternative report *Women, Peace and Security: Reloaded.* ² In the context of the fourth Swiss National Action Plan (NAP) 1325, which names Preventing Violent Extremism (PVE) as a key priority within its "prevention pillar," Swiss civil society seeks to better understand the potential ramifications of integrating the WPS and P/CVE agendas. As such, the project, "Civil Society Contribution to the Implementation of the Swiss NAP 1325," has consulted with civil society experts within Switzerland and beyond to determine how the WPS agenda can promote a concept of violence prevention that is grounded in the principles of peacebuilding and human rights and which contributes to WPS objectives of women's empowerment and gender equality.

Since the adoption of United Nations Security Council Resolution (UNSCR) 1325 in 2000, there is growing global recognition that women should participate in all realms of peace and security including the development of security policies and approaches and further, that such policies and approaches should account for the gendered dynamics of violent conflict. Since the adoption of UNSCR 2242 in 2015, which calls for the integration of the WPS and the counterterrorism (CT) and P/CVE agendas, there has been heightened attention on the gender dimensions of violence labelled "terrorism" and "violent extremism" and increased calls for women's participation in the CT and P/CVE agenda.³

Such calls have been applauded by those who see gender-blind security strategies as harmful to women and women's rights. However, some WPS actors and feminist activists and scholars have expressed a number of concerns regarding the integration of the WPS and the CT and P/CVE agendas. For instance, there is concern that the integration of these agendas merely instrumentalizes the discourse of women's rights and gender equality, subsuming the goals of the WPS agenda within the P/CVE agenda. In this respect, WPS becomes a "way of doing" P/CVE wherein states might rhetorically promote women's empowerment and gender equality but only insofar as it serves a state security agenda and without the sustained, material support actually needed to improve women's lives.⁴ Such an instrumentalization poses the risk of securitizing and militarizing the WPS agenda. In addition, there are concerns that the P/CVE agenda might actually endanger and harm women and women's rights, much as the CT agenda has.⁵ Such harms occur through the shrinking of civil society space, the restriction of women's rights and freedoms, the increased surveillance and targeting of Muslim communities, and direct violence by security forces. In addition, the promotion of gendered stereotypes and assumptions about women's agency risk further relegating women's influence to the domestic sphere, where they are assumed to have greater influence over their children and can act as embedded security agents within their homes and communities. Such assumptions might overly burden women with the responsibilities of violence prevention without addressing underlying structural issues such as gender inequality. In addition, such assumptions entrench stereotypes of women's inherent passivity and neglect a wider understanding of the gendered dynamics of violent conflict, including a recognition that women can act as agents of violence just as men can act as agents of peace.

As WPS actors and as representatives of Swiss civil society, we are invested in understanding the impact of the integration of the P/CVE and the WPS agendas on civil society, and on women and women's rights in particular. Given that research on the impacts of this integration is still in its infancy, our project—jointly led by PeaceWomen Across the Globe (PWAG), the Swiss Platform for Peacebuilding (KOFF) at swisspeace, and cfd: The Feminist Peace Organization—draws on the experience and knowledge of CSOs impacted by the P/CVE agenda and working at the intersection of the P/CVE and WPS agendas. Based on extensive desk-based research, field research with CSOs in Kenya, as well as discussion with partner organizations in other geographical contexts, the report offers critical reflections on the P/CVE agenda from a WPS perspective.

¹ Although Switzerland uses the language of PVE, in this report we use "P/CVE" to denote the broader field of policy and practice developed to "prevent and counter violent extremism." The specific terms "CVE" or "PVE" are used when an agency, policy, project, or interviewee uses that specific language. Further, there are no universally agreed upon definitions of "terrorism" or "violent extremism" and the range of existing definitions are contested and deeply political (Nasser-Eddine, et al. 2011). The lack of definitional clarity enables the expansion of states' legal and political powers to the detriment of human rights. In addition, the negative association of "terrorism" and "violent extremism" with the "global war on terror," military interventions, and Islamophobia make these terms undesirable from a peacebuilding perspective. Further, there is evidence to suggest that proscription—the naming as certain groups as "terrorist" organizations—negatively impacts conflict resolution and peace processes (Schwartz 2010; Haspeslagh 2013). Given these concerns, in this report we avoid using the terms "terrorism" and "violent extremism" where possible, unless referring to a specific policy or quoting an interviewee.

²Working Group 1325 2016.

³ United Nations Security Council 2015. See Ní Aoláin and Huckerby 2018a.

Gender Action for Peace and Security 2018; Ní Aoláin 2016; Brown 2013; Giscard d'Estaing 2017; Winterbotham and Pearson 2017; LSE Centre for Peace and Security 2017; Coomaraswamy 2015.

⁶ See GAPS 2018; Center for Human Rights and Global Justice 2011; Ní Aoláin 2013; Satterthwaite and Huckerby 2013; Coomaraswamy 2015; United Nations Human Rights Council 2016; United Nations Human Rights Council 2019.

Overall, the findings from our research reveal that CSOs working on violence prevention are extremely critical of the P/CVE agenda for a number of reasons. First, the language of "violent extremism" risks contributing to creating and exacerbating the violence it claims to prevent. The lack of definitional clarity and the tendency to conflate "violent extremism" with "terrorism" enables the expansion of the scope of CT measures, resulting in human rights violations including restrictions on freedom of expression. In addition, the language of "violent extremism" and "radicalization" risks further marginalizing and stigmatizing ethnic and religious minorities. Community-based organizations (CBOs) prefer to use language in their violence prevention programming that is context-specific, resonates with their communities, and contributes to conflict transformation.

However, donor-driven P/CVE agendas risk imposing externally devised rather than context-specific solutions. The vast financial resources now available within the P/CVE agenda means that organizations with little or no qualifications are designing and implementing P/CVE programming, posing great harm to communities, discrediting the work of P/CVE, and damaging the reputations of local CBOs who partner with larger international ogranizations. Community-based actors in Kenya discussed the "transactional relationship" that communities have developed with the P/CVE agenda, and the ways in which the P/CVE agenda is co-opting and depleting local energy and passion for peacebuilding. Overall, the P/CVE agenda is largely perceived by CSOs in Kenya as "an industry" that prioritizes the needs of donors, the international community, and the state over the needs of communities.

Women-led and women's rights organizations are particularly vulnerable to the influences of the P/CVE industry, as they face greater funding challenges that are exacerbated by donor preference for funding larger, international organizations. In addition, restrictive security measures such as countering terrorism financing (CTF) laws decrease donor risk appetite and make it more difficult for women's organizations to secure funding. CT measures, including CTF laws, have significantly curtailed the work of CSOs and disproportionately impacted women's organizations. In addition, women human rights defenders (WHRDs) are increasingly targeted by repressive governments and women-led and women's rights organizations are increasingly "squeezed" between the violence perpetrated by non-state armed actors, state security forces, and increasingly restrictive security measures.

Globally, the expansion of security architecture in the name of "fighting terror" has contributed to the narrowing of civic space and to increasing violations of human rights. The continuation of "hard security" measures such as military interventions and police violence violate human rights and impede the work of conflict transformation and violence prevention. P/CVE has not replaced CT measures and arguably adds greater legitimacy to the expansion of states' political and legal powers. Enforced disappearances and extra-judicial killings (EJKs) perpetrated in the name of "anti-terror" fuels anger and resentment among communities. Further, P/CVE, like CT, is also perceived by many of the communities in which it is implemented as unfairly targeting Muslim communities and as driven by Islamophobia, with particularly negative consequences for Muslim women.

Given the significant critiques and challenges of the P/CVE agenda, interventions from the WPS agenda are necessary in order to promote the inclusion of gender perspectives and women's participation in the development and implementation of security measures that are in line with the principles of peacebuilding and human rights. Women's meaningful participation in all levels of decision-making related to peace and security policy and programming is essential for the prevention of violence and UNSCR 2242 provides women a policy instrument with which to argue for their inclusion in developing security approaches. However, ensuring that women's participation is meaningful requires more than the rhetorical inclusion of women and gender in CT and P/CVE policy.

Further, we found that women's diverse involvement in "violent extremism" is shaped by political, economic, and social factors including grievances related to state-perpetrated violence and gender-based violence. Effective prevention therefore necessarily requires thorough gender analysis of organized violence and the context in which such violence emerges. Gendered assumptions regarding women's inherent passivity or lack of agency result in gender-blind security policy and practice, causing additional harm to women and girls, and especially to returnees. In addition, gendered assumptions about women's unique capacity to influence their children and family members risks tasking women with the burden of acting as security agents in their homes and communities without the necessary resources and protection.

In conclusion, we offer closing remarks on what role the WPS can and should play in relationship to the P/CVE agenda. We wish to move beyond calls for integration, which might result in superficial or rhetorical promotion of women's empowerment and gender equality and which might endorse a system of militarism that is antithetical to the ultimate objectives to WPS. However, if left unaddressed by WPS actors and feminist perspectives, the P/CVE agenda stands to do further harm to women and women's rights. Thus, WPS can play a positive role in regards to P/CVE: it can require, or demand, that the P/CVE agenda adheres to the principles of peacebuilding and human rights and that it actually contributes to gender equality and women's empowerment. WPS actors can insist on oversight of the P/CVE agenda in order to ensure that such security measures are not contributing to women's insecurity or harming women's rights. WPS actors can also insist on the continued funding of the WPS agenda in its own right, and not only when it contributes to a state security agenda.

We draw on the perspectives offered by women leaders and CSOs in Kenya who are asking for greater access to security agendas such as P/CVE in order to shape the design and enactment of security. We believe that the experience and expertise of CSOs—and women-led or women's rights organizations in particular—are crucial to closing the gap between security policy and practice. We must listen to what is actually needed by those engaged in daily violence prevention and create policies which reflect this reality.

At the end of the report we offer policy recommendations to Swiss state actors. With these recommendations, we hope to contribute to the continuous and constructive policy dialogue between state and non-state actors, thereby enhancing Switzerland's role as the implementer of the Swiss NAP 1325, as a donor agency in international cooperation and funder of strategic partners, and as an influencer of like-minded countries.



Introduction

Project Background and Rationale

In the nineteen years since the adoption of UNSCR 1325, the role of women and gender within all realms of international peace and security has steadily gained prominence. Indeed, UNSCR 1325 and the subsequent resolutions which comprise the WPS agenda have called for the greater protection of women from sexual and gender-based violence in conflict settings; the promotion of women's participation in peace processes; the prevention of violence against women through the promotion of women's rights and gender equality; and the mainstreaming of gender throughout all areas related to peace and security.⁶

In order to implement the WPS agenda at the national level, UN Member States can create National Action Plans (NAPs) to communicate their commitment to the promotion of women's participation and the integration of a gender perspective in all realms of peace and security. As of August 2019, 81 UN member states have adopted NAPs to implement UNSCR 1325. Switzerland, one of the very first countries to ever endorse a NAP on WPS, has recently launched its fourth NAP, active for five years (2018-2022). Previously, the implementation of the Swiss NAPs 1325 was led by Human Security Division (HSD) of the Federal Department of Foreign Affairs (FDFA) and coordinated with the Interdepartmental Working Group (IDAG) 1325. The IDAG 1325 generates reports which are then submitted to the Swiss Parliament.⁷ In addition, Swiss civil society has conducted its own monitoring via the Working Group (WG) 1325. In 2016, the WG 1325 published the independent alternative report *Women, Peace and Security: Reloaded*, which offered a critical and comprehensive reflection of Switzerland's implementation of the WPS agenda, including recommendations for future action.



Responding to the reflections and recommendations proposed by WG 1325 in the alternative report, the project "Civil Society Contribution to the Implementation of the Swiss NAP 1325" was developed. This project—jointly led by PeaceWomen Across the Globe (PWAG), KOFF-swisspeace, and cfd: The Feminist Peace Organization—takes up thematic topics identified in *Reloaded*. For instance, the *Reloaded* report raised concerns regarding the call to link the WPS agenda with the broader global security agenda to "counter terrorism" and "prevent violent extremism." Two years after the *Reloaded* report was published, Switzerland's fourth NAP 1325 identified PVE as a key priority of Switzerland's WPS agenda. The naming of PVE as a priority in the fourth NAP 1325 was, in part, a response to recommendations made by the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) in their observations of Switzerland's third NAP 1325 (2013-2016). The Committee expressed concern that there were "insufficient efforts to include a gender perspective in strategies to prevent violent extremism and counter terrorism" and recommended Switzerland "strengthen its efforts to include a gender perspective in strategies to prevent violent extremism and build the capacity of women and girls, including women civil society groups, to engage in efforts to counter terrorism." Given the move to integrate the WPS and P/CVE agendas, as well as the increasing prioritization of PVE in Swiss foreign and domestic policy, Swiss civil society is particularly invested in better understanding the relationship of the P/CVE and the WPS agendas in both policy and practice.

⁶In addition to UNSCR 1325 (2000), there are eight other resolutions which make up the WPS agenda: 1820 (2009); 1889 (2009); 1889 (2010); 1960 (2011); 2106 (2013); 2122 (2013); 2242 (2015), and 2467 (2019). The adoption of the most recent resolution, UNSCR 2467, which calls for a survivor-centered approach to conflict-related sexual violence, was marked by debate over the inclusion of language regarding the sexual and reproductive health and rights (SRHR) of survivors of sexual violence, echoing the larger context of pushback on SRHR around the world (see Hamid and Werner 2019).

⁷IDAG 2015; IDAG 2017.

^{*}CEDAW 2016, 5.

Integrating the WPS and P/CVE Agendas: An Overview

As the "global war on terror" nears the end of its second decade, the "hard" strategies of CT, such as military interventions and law enforcement, have been increasingly supplemented with the supposedly "soft" strategies of P/CVE. Broadly defined, P/CVE includes "policy, programs, and interventions designed to prevent individuals from engaging in violence associated with radical political, social, cultural, and religious ideologies and groups." In many regards, P/CVE is considered a new security paradigm comprised of old approaches borrowed from the fields of governance, development, and peacebuilding. These soft approaches seek to identify and address the drivers or root causes of "terrorism" and "violent extremism" such as social, political, and economic marginalization, weak state-society relations, lack of rule of law, and human rights violations. 10

Initially, the P/CVE agenda, like the CT agenda, was absent any mention of the WPS agenda.¹¹ However, as the P/CVE agenda has grown and evolved over the last decade, there has been an increasing focus on the role of women's empowerment and gender equality within P/CVE policy and practice. Since the adoption of UNSCR 2242 in 2015, there has been a surge in P/CVE policy and programming with a "gender perspective" and an increase in calls to link the WPS and P/CVE agendas.¹² Supported by Switzerland, UNSCR 2242 is the eighth resolution within the WPS framework and calls for Member States and the UN to integrate their agendas on WPS, CT and countering violent extremism which can be conducive to terrorism."¹³ Switzerland has responded to this call and is considering how best to integrate a gender perspective in its PVE agenda. For instance, Switzerland's *Foreign Policy Action Plan on Preventing Violent Extremism* (2016) specifically encourages gender mainstreaming in PVE policy and practice, including a gender analysis of the causes of "violent extremism."¹⁴ This action plan also makes explicit reference to UNSCR 1325 and the Swiss NAP 1325, calling attention to the need to promote women's participation in political and decision-making processes related to PVE. Domestically, Switzerland's *National Action Plan to Prevent and Counter Radicalisation and Violent Extremism* (2017) also calls for the integration of a gender perspective in the implementation of PVE approaches.¹⁵

In addition, the fourth Swiss NAP 1325 moves to strengthen the integration of the WPS and the PVE agendas as it encourages the inclusion of women in prevention efforts, as well as the recognition that women can be both victims and agents of violence. Indeed, the Swiss NAP 1325 asks that the "rights, needs and different roles of women in efforts to prevent violent extremism and to address terrorism are taken into account, with linkage to local initiatives." To achieve this requires integrating a gender analysis into prevention efforts, collecting and evaluating the wide range of women's experiences in violence prevention, and drawing on the knowledge of women and women's organizations. In this regard, the "prevention pillar" of the fourth Swiss NAP 1325 is informed by the P/CVE agenda.

Globally, calls to integrate the WPS and P/CVE agendas have been promoted as necessary to prevent the harms caused by CT and other "gender-blind security strategies," which fail to take gender, women, and women's rights into account. Indeed, since the beginning of the "global war on terror," there has been a great deal of attention on and concern for the negative impact of CT measures on civil society, women's rights, and human rights. For instance in 2009, the adverse impacts of CT on women and human rights were comprehensively documented and presented to the UN General Assembly. A few years later, a ground-breaking report revealed the gendered impacts of the United States' CT policies in the decade since the September 11th attacks. Other studies have demonstrated how CT measures, including financial regulations, shrink the space for women's civil society activism. These studies call for the integration of gender analysis and the promotion of women's rights and gender equality within CT policy and practice in order to mitigate potential harm.

⁹ Holmer 2018.

¹⁰ GCERF 2017.

¹¹ See Center for Human Rights and Global Justice 2011; Gender Action for Peace and Security 2018.

¹² Fink, Barakat and Shetret 2013; Bhulai, Peters and Nemr 2016; Fink, Zeiger and Bhulai 2016; Peters 2015; United States Institute of Peace 2015.

¹³ Other UNSCRs calling for the integration of the WPS and the P/CVE agenda include UNSCR 2122 (2013) and UNSCR 2195 (2014). In addition, calls for the increased participation of women in P/CVE can be found in UNSCR 2178 (2014); UNSCR 2242 (2015); UNSCR 2250 (2015); United Nations General Assembly 2015. Lastly, calls for greater recognition of the relationship between gender inequality, terrorism, and violent extremism can be found in United Nations Security Council 2014; United Nations General Assembly 2015.

¹⁴ Switzerland 2016

¹⁵ Switzerland 2017.

¹⁶ Switzerland 2018, 13.

¹⁷ United Nations General Assembly 2009.

 $^{^{\}rm 18}$ Center for Human Rights and Global Justice 2011.

¹⁹ Geuskens et al. 2015; Wassholm 2018.

However, there remains a great deal of concern regarding the potential impact of integrating the WPS and P/CVE agendas. These concerns, which will be explored throughout the report, include:

- The negative impact of the CT and P/CVE agendas on human rights
- The negative impact of CT and P/CVE policy and practice on CSOs, and on women-led and women's rights organizations in particular
- The superficial promotion of women's empowerment and gender equality as tools for state security rather than ends in themselves
- The reductive treatment of gender as synonymous with women and the promotion of gendered stereotypes which constrain rather than broaden women's political agency
- The militarization of the WPS agenda and the endorsement of security agendas designed to perpetrate rather than prevent violence

The "prevention pillar" of the WPS agenda, which has historically focused on the prevention of conflict-related sexual violence, must integrate the needs and concerns of women, women-led and women's rights organizations invested in violence prevention.²⁰ In this regard, it makes sense to have any security agenda related to the prevention of violence integrated with the WPS agenda. However, questions remain: Does the violence prevention promoted by the P/CVE agenda contribute to or impede WPS objectives of women's empowerment and gender equality? Does the promotion of the P/CVE agenda tacitly endorse a global security architecture with devastating impacts on women, women's rights, human rights, and civil society more broadly? How can the goals and objectives of WPS challenge and inform the P/CVE security agenda? Grounded in the discussions with civil society organizations in Kenya and reflected in discussions with CSOs across the world, these questions will be taken up throughout this report before making recommendations to Switzerland on how best to support violence prevention within the framework of the Swiss NAP 1325. Ultimately, this study contributes to furthering the conversation about the role of the WPS agenda in interrupting cycles of violence perpetrated by both state and non-state actors.



²⁰ Shepherd and Ceccon, n.d., 3.

Objectives, Context, and Methodology

Broadly speaking, this project seeks to increase awareness of the Swiss NAP 1325 as an important policy instrument that can have tangible, concrete effects in the realm of gender, peace, and security. The Swiss NAP 1325 and WPS agenda are important platforms for critical evaluation of whether national and global security agendas compromise or promote women's rights and gender equality. Further, as the transnational feminist advocacy which culminated in the adoption of UNSCR 1325 made clear, the WPS agenda "should not legitimise or normalise war, but rather the agenda should support the demilitarisation of society and facilitate the development of anti-militarist politics of peace." As such, Swiss civil society recognizes the need to critically investigate the P/CVE agenda and its compatibility with the goals and objectives of the WPS agenda.

To this end, this project was designed to capitalize on the already existing knowledge and expertise within civil society regarding women, gender, violence prevention, and the P/CVE agenda. Importantly, we recognize that as WPS actors writing from Switzerland about linking WPS and the P/CVE agendas, we are removed from the daily violence experienced in other parts of the world. The critiques regarding the integration of WPS and P/CVE are important, but any reflection on the integration of these agendas must be informed by women who are experiencing violence and working in violence prevention, taking into account what they actually want and need, and asking how they define peace and security. By grounding the Swiss NAP 1325 in experiences of individuals living in areas affected by extreme violence, we hope to increase the relevance and shape the implementation of the Swiss NAP 1325 in a way that is more aware of, and responsive to, realities on the ground.

To do this, we conducted a one-month research study in Kenya, designed in close consultation with an advisory group comprised of Swiss CSOs.²² In Kenya, CSOs—and CBOs in particular—face significant challenges due to violence perpetrated by both state and non-state armed actors.²³ In addition, CSOs face pressures from the P/CVE agenda, which has increasingly shaped the landscape of peacebuilding and human rights work. Through consultation with Kenyan CSOs, three regions were identified for the field research: the coastal regions of Kwale, Likoni, and Mombasa counties; the Eastern region of Isiolo; and the Nairobi region including the informal settlements of Eastleigh, Majengo, and Mathare. These regions were chosen due to the high number of organizations working to implement P/CVE activities, as well as the presence of organizations working to integrate a gender perspective into P/CVE. In these three areas, personal interviews and focus group discussions were held with a wide range of CSOs and actors including: CBOs; social justice and human rights organizations; peacebuilding organizations; youth organizations; religious organizations and religious leaders; women's organizations and networks; independent consultants working on women, gender, and P/CVE; and international organizations and think tanks. In total, 82 individuals were interviewed, with 43 percent being women.²⁴

Along with the field research in Kenya, extensive desk-based research was conducted on the intersection of WPS and P/CVE, both in Switzerland and globally. The findings of the Kenya study were then analyzed in relationship to the primary and secondary literature on WPS and P/CVE, and then further refined in cooperation with the project steering committee and advisory group. In addition, the findings from Kenya were reflected in other contexts—Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Kyrgyzstan, Mali, India, Philippines, Palestine, and the United Kingdom—where members of the advisory group and the steering committee have partners. These "global reflections" contributed to fostering greater dialogue with our partners on this topic as well as provided additional insights into the ways that CSOs and women's rights advocates deal with the P/CVE agenda, as well as violence perpetrated by non-state armed actors and state security forces. These reflections are communicated throughout this report in inset boxes. Taken together, these findings—including the desk-based research, the in-depth field research in Kenya, and the global reflections—informed the policy recommendations listed at the end of the report, which were collaboratively developed by the project's advisory group and steering committee.

²¹ Shepherd 2016, 332.

 $^{^{\}rm 22}\text{The}$ members of the advisory group are listed on page two of this report.

²³ Whereas civil society broadly includes the "aggregate of individuals, non-government organizations and institutions that manifest interests and will of citizens," community-based organizations refer to organizations which represent the specific needs of a community or a particular population within a community, including indigenous peoples, minorities, or marginalized populations (Arutyunova and Clark 2013, 138).

²⁴These individuals and organizations were identified through a method known as "snowball sampling," whereby interviewees were asked to recommend other interviewees. The intention was to speak to as many actors working in the field of P/CVE and particularly those working at the intersection of P/CVE and WPS. The fact that less than half of interviewees were women suggests that women are underrepresented in positions of leadership within community-based and civil society organizations.

Part I: Critical Reflections on the P/CVE Agenda

On January 15, 2019, just two days prior to the commencement of the field research in Kenya, al-Shabaab—the non-state armed group based in East Africa—attacked a hotel and office complex called the DusitD2 in the Westlands area of Nairobi, Kenya, killing 21 civilians. Eight of the nine suspected combatants, including the alleged "mastermind" of the attack, originated from Isiolo County. During the month-long research phase, nearly every interviewee reflected on this most recent attack and expressed frustration and concern over the continuation of violence despite the immense resources being poured into the P/CVE agenda. As is the case in many other global contexts, even as the P/CVE and CT security architecture continues to grow, so does the violence it seeks to address.

Part I of this report addresses a wide range of issues raised by CSOs regarding the P/CVE agenda including the tensions and issues with P/CVE language and discourse; the disconnect between P/CVE in policy and practice and the ways in which this impedes the work of violence prevention and conflict transformation; the issues that CSOs face when P/CVE programming is driven by donor interests; the role that the P/CVE and the CT agendas play in the shrinking of civil society and the particular impact this has on women's rights and women-led organizations; the continuation of hard security approaches and the devastating impact such approaches have on women and human rights, and the P/CVE agenda's disproportionate targeting of Muslim communities and the related rise of Islamophobia.

Box 1: Global Reflection | Philippines

Philippines has experienced protracted armed conflict with ideology-based insurgencies waged both by Communist rebels and Islamic separatist fronts. The main Bangsamoro struggle for self-determination has gained substantial success with a Comprehensive Peace Agreement signed in 2014 and the new Bangsamoro Autonomous Region in Muslim Mindanao (BARMM) was recently established. However, there are still a few small groups claiming Islamic belief that continue violent operations in parts of Mindanao. On the other hand, fighting between the Communist forces and state security forces continues to erupt in various parts of the country.

The peacebuilding organization, Gaston Z. Ortega Peace Institute (GZOPI), based in Manila, facilitates networking and learning exchange among peacebuilding organizations, working closely with women and youth peacebuilders. The Executive Director of GZOPI, Karen Tañada, explains that it is only recently that the language of "PVE" has emerged in Philippines, likely owing to the increase of donor funding in this area. People are uncomfortable with the term "violent extremism," Tañada explains, because the term seems to be identified with Islam. "The main public and the government tend to associate it with religion," she explained. "But the government also accuses the communists of terrorism, but somehow they don't call it VE [violent extremism]."

In addition, CSOs in Philippines question how the framing of P/CVE ignores violence perpetrated by the government. As Tañada explains, "Sometimes [the government's] actions could also be a form of extremism. That's why the definition is quite difficult. I wouldn't define state violence as terrorism, but in many cases real human rights violations are done by the government, nationally and in the Mindanao context." Tañada explains that CSOs and human rights organizations are fearful that more laws on security and terrorism will expand the powers of the state and allow security forces to act with impunity.

GZOPI does not call their work "PVE," preferring to use the framework of peacebuilding and conflict transformation due to the discomfort with the term "PVE" and the way the framework of PVE obscures the broader context of violent conflict. "When the government uses the term, they are not referring to the whole conflict," Tañada explains. "They are referring to a particular group involved in concrete incidents like kidnappings and bombings. Which are not the issues the Bangsamoro conflict or the Communist struggle is about. Our work is with people affected by conflict not so much by VE."

Based on phone interview with Karen Tañada (GZOPI) by Mithra Akhbari June 2019

1. The Issue of Language

Key Messages

- The lack of definitional clarity on what constitutes "violent extremism" and "terrorism" results in expanded state military and legal power which can have negative impacts on human rights and civil society.
- Exclusionary language can negatively impact violence prevention and conflict transformation.

Language is of central importance to both the perpetration and the prevention of violence. The lack of definitional clarity in CT and P/CVE legislation has led to expansive security measures which pose risks to human rights and contribute to the narrowing of civil society space.²⁵ The UN's *Plan of Action to Prevent Violent Extremism* recognizes that "violent extremism is a diverse phenomenon, without clear definition" and that it encompasses a "wider category of manifestations" than the term "terrorism."²⁶ There is concern that the broadening of security architecture to address "violent extremism" in addition to "terrorism" might result in a "conflation of the two terms" and "may lead to the justification of an overly broad application of counter-terrorism measures, including against forms of conduct that should not qualify as terrorist acts."²⁷ As such, the P/CVE agenda arguably contributes to enlarging the scope of CT measures. While both "terrorism" and "violent extremism" are undefined and contested concepts, "violent extremism" is generally conceived of as broader than "terrorism" to include speech, ideas, and beliefs.²⁸ In this way, the adoption of the P/CVE agenda expands the potential for CT measures to be used against a wider spectrum of action and belief, posing risks to human rights including freedom of expression.²⁹

In practice, P/CVE language and discourse, including "counter-messaging" campaigns, risk stigmatizing and marginalizing individuals and entire communities, fueling discontent. Recent research suggests that "counter-messaging"—which attempts to discredit the narratives used by non-state armed groups or violent organizations, or warn about the dangers and consequences of joining such organizations—is generally ineffective and can be counterproductive.³⁰ As Kloé Tricot O'Farrell, a Regional Conflict and Security Adviser at Saferworld writes, "By focusing on telling people what they should or shouldn't do, or what they should or shouldn't believe in, counter-messaging campaigns may actually lead people to dig their heels in and defend their positions. Similarly, banning content and limiting freedom of expression can create anger among those who feel they are being unjustly targeted."³¹ For instance, individuals might be afraid to speak about their grievances, such as marginalization, historical injustices, unemployment, and poverty for fear of being labeled a "radical." The failure of the state to create space for, acknowledge, and address these grievances is precisely what non-state armed groups such as al-Shabaab capitalize on.

The silencing of dissent out of fear of being labelled as "radical" or an "extremist" results in a repressive culture where conflict transformation is thwarted and where the relationships between the state and civil society remain strained. Indeed, Babu Ayindo, a peacebuilder in Kenya, points to how the term "radical" used to be positive: "It meant someone going to the root causes and interrogating systems and seeking transformation. But if someone right now calls you a 'young radical'? Then you are a candidate for elimination." For Ayindo, this stigma means that peacebuilders must be more creative when designing programming that reaches communities, and avoid "using phrases such as 'violent extremism' and 'radicalization' in the way that governments use them." Above all else, the language must be inclusive, Ayindo explained: "When we're taking about transformation, don't use language that excludes people and marks them for elimination."

²⁵ United Nations Human Rights Council 2019: 6, 11.

²⁶United Nations General Assembly 2015, 2.

²⁷ United Nations General Assembly 2015, 2.

²⁸ For instance, Switzerland defines "violent extremist activities" as "efforts by organisations that reject the principles of democracy and the rule of law and which commit, encourage or endorse acts of violence in order to achieve their goals" (as quoted in Switzerland 2017, 11).

²⁹ The P/CVE agenda expands the scope of manifestations that can come under state surveillance and criminalization, posing risks to human rights such as freedom of expression (e.g. see Callamard 2015).

³⁰ Reed, Ingram and Whittaker 2017.

³¹ Tricot O'Farrell 2019.

In addition to the potential for stigmatization and marginalization, the language of "violent extremism" does not necessarily resonate with communities, as is the case in the coastal region of Kenya. In programming material used by the peacebuilding organization Green String Network (GSN) for instance, Ayindo explains that "you won't find CVE language. You will find another expression that will invite people to the conversation." Further, using the language of "violent extremism" in programming might have the unintended consequence of introducing the concept in communities where it did not previously exist. For instance, Sami Gathii, executive director of the Youth, Arts, Development and Entrepreneurship Network (YADEN) is cautious to avoid introducing the language of "violent extremism" into communities. "I always joke and say there is so much saturation of CVE work that most of us are the ones introducing violent extremism to very young people," Gathii explained. "In a small village you call young people together and say, 'You are vulnerable, you are going to be recruited, and you are going to get 10,000 dollars.' And that young person is like, 'wait a minute. What did he just say? 10,000 dollars!' That sounds not so bad to them and then in the evening they are on the internet, searching."

11

When we're taking about transformation, don't use language that excludes people and marks them for elimination.

Babu Ayindo, peacebuilder in Kenya

Further, the lack of definitional clarity has important ramifications for CSOs engaged in violence prevention work. For instance, the expansive category of "violent extremism" makes it difficult for peacebuilders and CBOs to actually address the violence. As a consultant on gender and P/CVE working in the coastal region recalls, "Violent extremism was branded so giant that when it came to us, we feared tackling it. When it came, everything became associated with it. And that fear created a culture of silence." Indeed, in the coastal region there is a slippage between "violent extremism" and the "extreme violence" of gangs, which are often referred to as "terror groups." While "gang violence" and "violent extremism" are not wholly separate issues, conflating the two makes it difficult for organizations to design programming which addresses the specificity of violence. As the consultant explained, "We have generalized all the crimes into violent extremism. And it is extreme violence. But it's very difficult to differentiate."



The definitional challenges of the P/CVE agenda suggest a need for a rebranding, or perhaps a reclaiming, of the agenda. As Fauziya Abdi, President of Women in International Security (WIIS) Horn of Africa, stated, "One joke I say is just to move the Ps and the Vs and have 'PEV' and then focus on extreme violence. Because there's no escaping it, extreme violence is happening." Angi Yoder-Mania, the founder of the peacebuilding organization Green String Network (GSN) agrees that, whatever it's called, programs around violence prevention are absolutely necessary in Kenya. "In places like Majengo," she explains, "they desperately need it, they need awareness... it's not just the police, it's also our own communities that are harming us." At the end of the day, she states, "I don't care what it's called. The work is the same."

Box 2: Global Reflection | Switzerland

As part of its counterterrorism strategy, Switzerland adopted the National Action Plan (NAP) to "Prevent and Counter Radicalisation and Violent Extremism" at the domestic level in 2017. It contains a set of measures, ranging from increasing knowledge and expertise, enhancing coordination and cooperation, to disengagement and reintegration.

Discussions among Swiss civil society actors have raised particular concern about measures which address "violent extremism" at Swiss schools. In 2016, the UNESCO published the brochure "A Teachers Guide on the Prevention of Violent Extremism," which aims at building and reinforcing national capacities to address violent extremism through the education sector. This brochure was broadly distributed among teachers and social workers in Switzerland.

However, two interviewees from the education sector in Bern agree that "violent extremism" is not an issue that deserves any kind of special attention at schools in Bern. According to one of the interviewees, in the Canton of Bern, there has been only one incident of "violent extremism" related to a Neo-Nazi group in the past few years. Both interviewees mention that teachers and students face issues related to a much broader spectrum of conflicts and violence, including fights among students, sexual and gender-based violence, (cyber-) mobbing, eating disorders, and self-harm. They emphasize that there are many concepts and capacities in place to prevent and deal with these issues and that there is no need for a special policy on PVE. As one of them puts it: "I prefer to work with and relate to the students, instead of trying to spot and report suspicious behavior." As recent publications show, the identification and reporting of potentially radicalized students is also problematic from a legal perspective, since it entails judicial action against individuals who have not committed any crime under Swiss criminal law, and thus violates basic civil and political rights.^{iv}

Thus, there is a clear need to critically and carefully assess the relevance of PVE measures in Switzerland, and in the context of Swiss schools in particular, in order to avoid contributing to a climate of suspicion and legal insecurity and potentially creating a problem that did not exist.

Based on interviews with two professionals from the education sector by Sibylle Ganz-Koechlin, June 2019

Switzerland 2015.

ii Switzerland 2017.

iii UNESCO 2016.

iv Conte 2018; Todeschini 2019.

2. P/CVE as a Donor Driven Agenda

Key Messages

- P/CVE is perceived by CBOs as an industry which prioritizes the needs of donors, the international community, and the state over communities.
- P/CVE at the ground level is considered to be the "real," day-to-day work of violence prevention, which takes place in small social interactions and relationships.
- Donors should not fund P/CVE programming that contributes to violence or increases the insecurity of communities.

The lack of definitional clarity around "violent extremism" and what is needed for its prevention results in significant discrepancies in the understanding and enactment of P/CVE between policymakers, donors, and grassroots actors. In Kenya, community-based actors understand P/CVE as consisting of the day-to-day work of violence prevention which takes place in small social interactions and relationships. These community-based actors refer to the P/CVE agenda as enacted by the state or international organizations as being out of touch with the needs of communities, as imposing "top-down" approaches rather than organic solutions generated from the communities themselves. During our field research in Kenya, the P/CVE agenda was overwhelmingly criticized as "a business," "an industry," a "brand," and a "commercialized agenda" run by "briefcase NGOs" which prioritized the needs of the donors, the international community, and the state.

The emergence of the P/CVE agenda in Kenya has had serious implications for peacebuilding and human rights organizations who have long been involved in the work of violence prevention and conflict transformation. For instance, Ayindo has been working in the field of peacebuilding in Kenya for over thirty years and has witnessed the shift that has accompanied the emergence of the P/CVE agenda. "You cannot even be considered to be doing peacebuilding anymore if you aren't doing CVE," Ayindo explained.³² While this study was not able to assess the full impact of the P/CVE agenda on peacebuilding organizations, it is clear that in Kenya, the donor-driven P/CVE agenda is shaping the work of peacebuilding organizations and the work of violence prevention.

For instance, many community-based actors argued that international organizations "parachute in" and run P/CVE programming without the proper expertise and without attending to the specificity of the context. As a consultant on gender and P/CVE in Kenya states, "You can't import [a program]. Situations are very organic and you have to have the patience to know your context—that's what most development organizations don't have." A peacebuilder who works on gender and violence prevention in Mombasa, cautions against imposing agendas on local communities without understanding the context and without listening to people. "Don't go there with projects and just assume that you're helping them. You're not!" she insisted.

The vast amount of financial resources now available within the P/CVE framework has led to organizations with no qualifications implementing P/CVE programming. As Gathii insists, this kind of violence prevention work is "a life and death issue. Before you do it, you try to make sure you can get it right otherwise you create a bigger problem than you had. And development agencies don't understand that. A lot of people just wake up and mainstream CVE and it goes very bad." Furthermore, Al-Hajj Hassan Ole Naado, the Deputy Chairman and Head of Strategy and Partnerships at the Supreme Council of Kenya Muslims (SUPKEM), expressed concern that true violence prevention and conflict transformation will not be achieved as long as the needs of communities remain secondary to a donor-driven agenda. "To me it's more of a window dressing than addressing real, real issues," he explained. "An impact can only be achieved in this field by having the community at the center of the implementation of the activities. And without that, honestly, it's public relations." Michael Opondo, a peacebuilder and expert on violent extremism in Kenya, argues that communities

³² All quotes attributed to civil society actors in Kenya are the result of interviews conducted between 17 January and 14 February 2019. The names of individuals and organizations are only used if permission was explicitly granted. Otherwise, the interview has been anonymized.

have developed a "transactional relationship" with P/CVE. If an international organization comes into a community with a large amount of funds to run a P/CVE program, the community will participate because they need the resources, but not necessarily because they believe in the work. Opondo explains that this leads to international organizations co-opting local energy and passion for peacebuilding, and then leaving without a proper exit strategy or plan to ensure sustainability. This dynamic ultimately discredits the work of P/CVE and damages the reputation of the local organizations partnered with the larger international organizations.

The donor-driven P/CVE industry has particular impact on women-led and women's rights organizations. The majority of women's organizations around the world remain quite small due to challenges in securing necessary funding. The already difficult funding climate is exacerbated by "donor funding policies that have created an overall preference for giving grants to large projects or NGOs, including international NGOs in donor countries, in ways that subsequently cut off funding to smaller and grassroots women's rights organizing and organizations."³³ Women leaders in Isiolo reported that their ability to implement sustainable programming for women's rights, gender equality, and violence prevention is hampered by their reliance on the donor industry and their short-term funding cycles. As one woman said, "If we had choice, we would have rejected the small tokens and short-term interventions, because it leaves us with a lot of burden on how we can really continue without the support." Yet, as a small organization they are not in a position to turn down any funding because, as she explained, "a weak person has no choice." As women leaders in Isiolo explained, "women-led organizations are getting stuck. A program goes on for a few months and then all of the sudden discontinues and this brings a lot of distrust."

An impact can only be achieved in this field by having the community at the center of the implementation of the activities.

Ole Naado, SUPKEM

Ultimately, truly eradicating cycles of violence requires daily work by people committed to the communities in which they act. Given the emergence of the P/CVE agenda within the peacebuilding space, organizations are forced to negotiate with the P/CVE agenda in order to secure necessary funding. Many recognize the P/CVE agenda as another trend in donor funding that may, or may not last; their work will continue regardless. As Ayindo passionately states: "I will be here. And we have to make sure we break the cycle of violence. And if that means subverting the donor agenda here or there than we will do that. And you can quote me on that. Because at the end of the day, it's about breaking cycles of violence... What we are aiming at is that these cycles of violence stop. This is not the world you want to pass onto the next generation."



³³ Duke Law International Human Rights Clinic and Women Peacemakers Program 2017, 15. Also see Arutyunova and Clark 2013.

Box 3: Global Reflection | Afghanistan

Since the United States' invasion in 2001, Afghanistan has experienced protracted conflict. Military occupation and the presence of foreign powers with competing interests leave the country in a precarious position, caught between the interests of international donors, the Taliban and the Afghan government. Nearly 18 years later, peace remains elusive for Afghans.

Violent conflict between U.S.-led military operations, insurgent groups, criminal organizations, and systemic police and political violence has taken a devastating toll on Afghanistan's civilian population. Dr. Sima Samar, head of Afghanistan Independent Human Rights Commission (AIHRC), finds that the rush of donor funding into the P/CVE agenda in the midst of a precarious security situation has resulted in poorly planned programs absent a clear strategy for prevention. For instance, some P/CVE donor funding unwittingly financed madrassas which were then used by the Taliban and other organizations to radicalize and recruit youth.

In a context where foreign influence is resented and identified as the source of conflict, organic and context-based violence prevention programming is essential. Dr. Samar believes that such programming must be grounded in the principles of human rights, emphasizing the right to food, clear water, health care, and education. Otherwise, Dr. Samar explained, such programming will be seen as part of a "Western agenda" with no bearing for the context.

For Dr. Samar, peace begins at home, in changing social relationships and disrupting gendered divisions of labor. Young boys must be taught to question why their sisters and mothers do all of the domestic work and to challenge their fathers' aggression. Increasing the quality of education for boys and girls and teaching them about gender equality will have a great impact in the next generations' progress toward peace. Empowering women will greatly impact social norms and lead to sustainable peace, in Afghanistan and in all countries. And yet, Dr. Samar laments, this is exactly the kind of programming that donors will not fund.

Based on phone interview with Dr. Sima Samar conducted by Elizabeth Mesok, May 2019

ⁱ Harvard Humanitarian Initiative 2018.

[&]quot; Fazli, Johnson and Cooke 2015.

3. The Shrinking of Civil Society Space

Key Messages

- The expansion of CT and P/CVE security measures has contributed to the narrowing of civil society space.
- The shrinking of civil society space has particularly negative impacts for women-led and women's rights organizations and on women human rights defenders (WHRDs).

Since the beginning of the "global war on terror," civil society space has been shrinking across the world.³⁴ Between 2001 and 2018, CT legislation has been adopted by at least 140 states,³⁵ with a significant rise of legislation between 2013 and 2017 regarding "foreign fighters" or returnees.³⁶ As Fionnuala Ní Aoláin, the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms while countering terrorism, writes: "It is no coincidence that the proliferation of security measures to counter terrorism and to prevent and counter violent extremism, on the one hand, and the adoption of measures that restrict civic space, on the other, are happening simultaneously. The ramping up of security space, leading to the narrowing of civic space, can be directly traced back to the international security-focused dynamic that emerged in 2001, and the embedding of international matrices in the global counter-terrorism architecture in order to authorize and sustain security measures."³¹ The concept of "shrinking civic space" refers to the increased criminalization and bureaucratization of the work of human rights defenders, activists, and organizations. Methods to restrict the actions of civil society include legislation regulating the activities of CSOs; policies which restrict the freedom of assembly, the freedom of association, and the freedom of expression; direct acts of intimidation and violence either by state or non-state actors; and laws which limit CSOs' ability to receive international funding.³⁶

For instance, Kenyan CSOs have experienced the curtailing of their operations due to countering terrorism financing (CTF) laws, anti-money laundering laws, and anti-terror legislation which constrains their ability to independently design and implement violence prevention programming. In July 2019, the Kenya government signed into law an amendment to the Prevention of Terrorism Act which empowered the NCTC to "act as an approving and reporting institution for all civil society organizations and international non-governmental ogranizations in prevent and countering violence extremism and radicalisation." This amendment was critiqued by CSOs, particularly in the coastal region, as they feel that having their P/CVE work approved and supervised by the NCTC amounts to a securitization of their violence prevention and peacebuilding efforts. As Ayindo explains, when CSOs are used as an extension of the state's intelligence gathering and surveillance, they weaken peacebuilding and P/CVE efforts from the ground up.

In 2015, the Kenyan government attempted to deregister the human rights organizations Muslims for Human Rights (MUHURI) and HAKI Africa based on suspicion that they were sympathizers and supporters of al-Shabaab. With their funds frozen and their medical insurance suspended, the two organizations spent 18 months fighting the charges in court. It was only with their donors' continued financial and legal support that they were able to successfully defend themselves and clear their name. Both MUHURI and HAKI Africa are critical of the government's perpetration of human rights violations through their employment of hard security approaches in the name of CT and P/CVE. The legal action taken against these organizations can be seen as an example of how anti-terror legislation is used to suppress CSOs which governments perceive as a threat. As a consultant on gender and P/CVE explained, "the government actually started blocking accounts of many civil society groups and non-governmental organizations, to the extent that the space for operation for CSOs became so limited, and only those that were friendly to government bureaucrats were able to operate. Anybody working on human rights was suspect."

³⁴ United Nations Human Rights Council 2019.

³⁵ Baydas and Green 2018.

³⁶ Tayler 2017.

³⁷ United Nations Human Rights Council 2019, 3.

³⁸ Wassholm 2018, 11.

³⁹ Capital News 2019b.

⁴⁰ Capital News 2019a.

CT measures, including CTF laws, have come under scrutiny worldwide for the ways in which they curtail the work of CSOs and contribute to the violation of human rights. CTF laws, which are designed to prevent funds from reaching non-state armed groups designated as "terrorist organisations," have been shown to have disproportionate impact on the work of women's organizations.⁴¹ For instance, a study by Duke Law International Human Rights Clinic and Women Peacemakers Program found that 90 percent of women's organizations surveyed across 61 countries reported CT measures as negatively impacting their ability to work for women's rights and gender equality and 60 percent fear prosecution or harassment under counterterrorism financing measures.⁴² This study finds that the impact of CTF laws "has been to circumscribe how, where, and in some cases, even if, women's rights organizations can undertake their core work on mobilizing human rights, gender equality, and advancing the women, peace and security agenda."⁴³



Women-led CSOs are increasingly "squeezed" between the between the violence perpetrated by non-state armed actors, state security forces, and the restrictions of CT and P/CVE security measures.⁴⁴ There are growing reports of WHRDs targeted by repressive governments in the name of countering terrorism.⁴⁵ A 2017 study found WHRDs are affected differently than men by the narrowing of civil society space that is a result of both the "global war on terror" and increasingly repressive governments, with 85 percent of surveyed WHRDs reporting the curtailing of women's engagement in political life and a decrease in funding options for women's organizations.⁴⁶ As mentioned above, the expansive security architecture designed to combat "violent extremism" and "terrorism" poses serious threats to human rights and contributes to the narrowing of civic space where activists can operate freely and without government oversight.⁴⁷

⁴¹ Since September 11, 2001, CTF measures have been prioritized by the international community "through domestic criminalization, expanded legal powers to sanction proscribed individuals and entities, mandatory counter-terrorism clauses in donor funding and partnership agreements, and new reporting requirements for financial institutions that in turn led banks to develop their own increasingly risk-averse controls" (Duke Law International Human Rights Clinic and Women Peacemakers Program 2017, 8).

⁴² Duke Law International Human Rights Clinic and Women Peacemakers Program 2017

 $^{^{43}}$ Duke Law International Human Rights Clinic and Women Peacemakers Program 2017, 12.

⁴⁴ See Coomaraswamy 2015, 220-233; Duke Law International Human Rights Clinic and Women Peacemakers Program 2017; Wassholm 2018.

⁴⁵ For example, counterterrorism efforts in Egypt have restricted the efforts of women activists promoting gender equality and women's rights. See Saferworld 2017.

⁴⁶ Wassholm 2018, 6.

⁴⁷ United Nations Human Rights Council 2016; United Nations General Assembly 2018.

Box 4: Global Reflection | Kyrgyzstan

International attention has recently focused on P/CVE efforts in Kyrgyzstan, as the Central Asian country is perceived to be a potential "danger zone" for "violent extremism." Although there are cases of individuals of Kyrgyzstani origin joining non-state armed groups abroad, recent research questions whether the emergence of the P/CVE agenda in Kyrgyzstan serves international donor interests and narrowly focuses on "violent extremism" at the expense of a broader range of peacebuilding, governance, and development priorities. Nevertheless, there remains concern that lack of employment opportunities and public services, inequality, and poor levels of secular and religious education lead to increased vulnerability for radicalisation and recruitment to non-state armed groups.

Since 2013 nearly 600 Kyrgyzstani citizens, including women and children, joined the Islamic State (IS), with more than 70 percent originating from Osh Region in southwestern Kyrgyzstan. The youth organisation, Youth of Osh (YoO), started working on the topic of radicalisation after recognizing the need in their communities and that youth in particular were vulnerable, as they lack the critical skills necessary to question and challenge extremist narratives. YoO runs a range of programming devoted to developing young people's capacity for civic activism, including increasing youth awareness about recruitment to violent organizations and addressing the communication gap between youths and adults.

YoO observes that while community organizations and education institutions are best positioned to address radicalization, "they lack knowledge and resources to implement PVE measures that foster inclusiveness and reflect the needs of marginalized members of their communities." YoO believes that addressing local causes of radicalization requires adopting "demand-driven tailored preventative approaches," a perspective echoed by the organization Public Foundation Progress Aravan, who also works on PVE in Osh Region. Public Foundation Progress finds that PVE programming generated by international organizations, who lack "knowledge of local triggers and problems," do not fit into the local content and context.

Public Foundation Progress identifies a number of other challenges posed by the PVE agenda, including the risks that come with accepting PVE funding. Radical community members might label and target the project staff as the "enemy," putting the lives of staff and their families at risk. In addition, if radical community members know that PVE donor funding is being accepted, they might reject the proposed projects as invalid. YoO experiences pressure from international donors to frame their activities and program through the language of PVE and believes it is better "not to position projects directly as PVE to the community."

Both YoO and Public Foundation Progress find linking the WPS and P/CVE agendas important in Kyrgyzstan. YoO acknowledges the important role that women play in violence prevention, including violence arising from ethnic clashes. They also recognize that while the role of mothers is considered important in preventing their children from engaging in violence, YoO's experience has demonstrated that young people who join IS are not informing their parents of their decision or are not respecting their parents' advice regarding their decision. YoO also believes that linking the WPS and P/CVE agendas will increase women's opportunities and decrease domestic violence against women, allowing women to participate more freely in public life. However, the risk of backlash by radical men in the community must also be considered.

Based on written interviews with YoO and Public Foundation Progress Aravan by Regula Gattiker June 2019

¹ Tricot O'Farrell and Street 2019.

ii Zenn and Kuehnast 2014.

4. CT, P/CVE, and Human Rights Violations

Key Messages

- Security measures employed in the "global war on terror" have violated human rights and contributed to the greater perpetration of violence.
- P/CVE has not replaced CT and arguably adds greater legitimacy to CT security measures.
- Human rights violations impede the work of violence prevention and conflict transformation.

Security measures employed in the "global war on terror" threaten human rights and contribute to the rise of violence worldwide.⁴⁸ While the P/CVE agenda theoretically signals a shift away from the hard security tactics of CT, in practice such hard security tactics are not only not abating, they are increasing.⁴⁹ Furthermore, as Larry Attree, the Head of Global Policy and Advocacy at Saferworld writes, "CVE efforts can't work if they merely go *alongside* problematic military and rule of law approaches. CVE will only work if it actually stands to *change* the tactics used by military and criminal justice actors... At present, CVE is doing little to transform the hard security approaches that drive many into the arms of violent groups."⁵⁰ Indeed, states continue to employ coercive and violent security approaches, such as extra-judicial killings (EJKs) and enforced disappearances, which contribute to the shrinking of civil society space and the violation of human rights around the world.⁵¹

The Kenya National Commission on Human Rights (KNCHR) has documented widespread and systematic human rights violations and unlawful activities perpetrated against members of the Muslim and ethnic Somali communities during CT operations, including "arbitrary arrests, extortion, theft and looting of businesses and homesteads, sexual harassments, arbitrary detention, illegal deportations, torture, inhuman and degrading treatment." A more recent evaluation of Kenya's National Strategy to Counter Violent Extremism (NSCVE) revealed that "policing, intelligence and military officials have been consistently accused of violating the rights of terrorist suspects, alleged terrorist sympathizers and entire communities they have profiled as sources of violent extremism."

Human rights violations and abuses are perpetrated against ethnic Somali and Muslim populations throughout Kenya. In the coastal regions of Likoni, Kwale, and Mombasa counties, for example, young men are subjected to security measures such as curfews and routine ID checks, and also experience near-constant harassment and violence at the hands of military and police. Similarly, Isiolo has been labelled a "breeding ground for violent extremism" and experiences high rates of surveillance and police violence. CBOs in Isiolo report that this stigmatization of their community—and their youth in particular—deters business investment, increases economic depression, and contributes to a sense of hopelessness among youth. Such tactics interrupt grassroots efforts to prevent violence, as increased marginalization and stigmatization often lead youth to joining non-state armed groups. As one youth leader explained, "These ATPU [Anti-Terror Police Unit] harass our youth, saying 'you are al-Shabaab.' They set their mind so that our youth say 'these police are calling us al-Shabaab. Let us just go and join al-Shabaab."

⁴⁸ See United Nations Human Rights Council 2019; United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights 2008.

⁴⁹ Attree 2017. For instance, the US military's use of drone strikes is increasing (Ackerman 2018). In addition, President Trump has also lowered the standards of who can be targeted for a drone strike (Donnenfeld 2019). Further, Trump recently revoked a policy that would require US intelligence official to publish the number of civilians killed by drone strikes in regions outside of war zones (Savage 2019; see also Amnesty International 2019).

⁵⁰ Attree 2017

⁵¹ The US's practice of secret detention, for instance, has unlawfully apprehended and detained individuals suspected of terrorism in "black sites" (Human Rights Watch 2007). Enforced disappearances under expanded CT laws are also occurring in Pakistan (Shafiq 2013; Hussain 2019a) and Egypt (Saferworld 2017).

⁵² Kenya National Commission on Human Rights 2015. See also Amnesty International 2017; Privacy International 2017; Gitau 2017; Mutahi 2017.

s3 Kenya's National Counter-Terrorism Centre (NCTC) launched the National Strategy to Counter Violent Extremism (NSCVE) in September 2016. The NSCVE outlines nine key pillars through which the "soft" approaches to minimizing violent extremism can be actualized—including psychosocial; educational; political; security; faith based and ideological; training and capacity building; arts and culture legal and political, and media and online. Importantly, while the first draft of the NSCVE contained a "women and gender pillar," this pillar was deleted in the final version.

⁵⁴ Ogada 2017, 3. For more on the violation of human rights by state implementation of P/CVE, see Nyagah, Mwangi and Attree 2017; Kenya National Commission on Human Rights 2015.

Indeed, unlawful detention, racial and religious profiling, and stigmatizing entire communities makes the work of violence prevention and conflict transformation extremely difficult. Salma Hemed, the Deputy Executive Director of HAKI Africa in Mombasa explained the profoundly negative impact the police can have on the work of human rights and peacebuilding organizations. Young people are less inclined to seek peaceful solutions to resolve conflict when they constantly feel under threat, leading them to form gangs or join other non-state armed groups. "They say 'there is no need to reform when we are being killed,'" Hemed explains. 'We are being killed—let us kill.'" A youth leader in Isiolo offered an example of the unlawful and violent detainment of a Somali Muslim youth in Marsabit, a town in Northern Kenya. The outcome of this, he explained, is that "they arrest one, but they radicalize a thousand." Hemed agrees with the negative impact that police violence has on the work of human rights and peacebuilding: "Every time a police officer goes and kills, it makes our process go back to square one."

In addition to racial and religious profiling, surveillance and harassment, instances of enforced disappearances and EJKs are rampant across Kenya.⁵⁵ Enforced disappearances, which by definition are perpetrated by the state or agents acting on behalf of the state, and EJKs are perpetrated in Kenya by the ATPU, part of Kenya's National Police Service established in 2003 with a mandate to enact CT security measures. The ATPU regularly perpetrates human rights abuses in its extra-legal approach to fighting terror, including "use of excessive force during house raids; torture and ill-treatment of detainees; arbitrary detentions, including disappearances; and rendering terrorist suspects to countries where they face a real risk of torture."⁵⁶ The issues of EJKs and enforced disappearances were raised in all three regions of Kenya where interviews were conducted for this study—Nairobi, Isiolo, and the coastal regions.⁵⁷ For example, in Nairobi's informal settlement of Majengo, which is considered an "epicenter of radicalization," EJKs are estimated to happen at the rate of one a week. In Mathare, another informal settlement in Nairobi, police are estimated to have executed 800 young people between 2013 and 2016.⁵⁸ In April 2019, MUHURI reported that they have recorded 73 cases of enforced disappearances and EJKs in the Coast region since 2017.⁵⁹

At present, CVE is doing little to transform the hard security approaches that drive many into the arms of violent groups.

Larry Attree, Head of Global Policy and Advocacy at Saferworld

Enforced disappearances and EJKs are largely perpetrated under the guise of P/CVE. Hemed explains that law enforcement will either deny involvement in instances where a person has disappeared or will claim it was justified for national security if a body is found or an execution witnessed. In the case of disappearances, the police will merely tell the family that the individual crossed the border to Somalia to join al-Shabaab. However, as Hemed reasons, "The fact that you are not investigating means that you are part of it. If someone has disappeared and you are saying you are not behind it, then why don't you investigate?" Naado from SUPKEM agrees that when an individual disappears the community believes that the state is responsible: "It's the belief because there is no contrary opinion. In the absence of alternative information by the state, the criminal remains the state."

⁵⁵ Kenya National Commission on Human Rights (KNCHR) 2015. For more information on enforced disappearances and EJKs, see International Commission of Jurists 2015.

⁵⁶ Horowitz 2013, 19. See also Human Rights Watch 2012.

⁵⁷ These human rights violations by security agencies against individuals suspected of terrorism are present in other regions as well, with the most affected counties being Nairobi, Wajir, Mandera, Garissa, Lamu, Tana River, Kwale, Kilifi, and Mombasa and targeting ethnic Somalis (Human Rights Watch 2016). The KNCHR has documented more than 150 cases of EJKs or enforced disappearances by security agencies (Omilo 2019).

⁵⁸ Nyabola 2018. These killings are documented by the Mathare Social Justice Centre, an initiative set up by youths to promote social justice and document human rights violations. In Mathare, EJKs are usually perpetrated against young men suspected of criminality. Stephen Mwangi, a human rights activist in Mathare, understands these executions as similar to those perpetrated against those suspected of "violent extremism"—they are both functions of the criminalization of poverty and the treatment of people as disposable.
59 Omilo 2019.

5. P/CVE and Islamophobia

Key Messages

- P/CVE, like CT, is viewed by communities as unfairly targeting Muslim communities and fostering Islamophobia.
- Islamophobia manifests in gendered ways and has gendered impacts.

Islamophobia—a form of anti-Muslim racism—has been on the rise since the beginning of the "global war on terror." In Switzerland and elsewhere, domestic P/CVE agendas have come under scrutiny for the ways in which they conflate Islam with "violent extremism" and for their disproportionate focus on Muslim communities. Even as violence enacted by right wing nationalists and white supremacists is on the rise, the P/CVE agenda remains overwhelmingly focused on violence perpetrated by Islamic extremists. In Kenya and elsewhere, Muslims and ethnic minorities assumed to be Muslim face racial profiling and violence from security agents and civilians.

In addition, Muslim communities who face increased surveillance, profiling, and violence question the intentions of the P/CVE agenda given that it evolved directly out of the "war on terror," a war which has had devastating impacts on Muslim populations. For instance, Patrick Ochieng, the founder of Ujamaa Center, a peacebuilding organization located in Mombasa, criticizes the P/CVE agenda as contributing to the proliferation of the "security industry" which promotes the narratives that "Islam has a certain potential for terror." For Ochieng, the violence perpetrated by non-state armed groups in Kenya must be understood within the broader context of global CT, and in particular, Kenya's alignment with the US in the "war on terror" beginning with Kenya's military intervention in Somalia in 2011. The skepticism regarding the P/CVE agenda is directly related to fears that the "war on terror" is in essence a war on Islam. Indeed, women leaders in Isiolo expressed frustration that despite the daily efforts in violence prevention in their communities, Islamophobic narratives are continuously promoted by the media and politicians. As one woman stated, "We believe that the issue of radicalization is bigger than what we see. We believe it's an issue of government and the United Nations—they want to demonize Islam."

Grassroots women's organizations are particularly wary at their inclusion in the P/CVE agenda given its association with national and international security agendas that are specifically targeting Muslim communities or which violate human rights.⁶³ In addition, Islamophobia has gendered impacts which negatively impact women and women's rights. In Western nations, Muslim women are disproportionately victims of hate crimes and discrimination, owing in part to the fact that the hijab publicly identifies them as Muslim.⁶⁴ In addition, Islamophobic narratives promote the assumption that Muslim women who veil are inherently oppressed and in need of "saving."⁶⁵

⁶⁰ In this report, we define "Islamophobia" as "a form of racialization of Muslims where the Muslim identity is reduced to stereotypes of violence and oppression. It is a socio-psychological phenomenon that ranges from distrust to fear and hatred of the Muslim identity and Islam; the 'phobia' is far from an irrational fear, it is informed by a social and political context that rationalizes such fear and hatred of Muslims" (Saeed 2018). It is additionally important to recognize that the roots of 21st century Islamophobia can be traced back to Orientalism (see Beydoun 2018; Saeed 2007; Saeed 2016). For broad discussions of modern-day Islamophobia see Allen 2011; Kundnani 2014; Bayrakli and Enes 2016; Bayrakli and Enes 2018.

⁶¹ For discussion of Switzerland, see Orakzai 2016, 535-538. In the United States, for example, the domestic CVE agenda is critiqued for focusing almost exclusively on American Muslim communities (Patel and Koushik 2017) and fostering Islamophobia (Michel 2015; Aziz 2017). Further, the Trump administration's announcement to rebrand CVE as "Countering Radical Islam" or "Countering Violent Jihad," the 'Muslim Bans,' and the continual use racist rhetoric, has stoked the flames of Islamophobia worldwide (Kundnani and Hayes 2018; Beydoun 2017; Shane, Rosenberg and Lipton 2017). The UK's Prevent program is also criticized for its targeting of Muslim population, increasing stigmatization and marginalization (see Abbas 2018; Alam and Husband 2013; Cohen and Tufail 2016; Carlile 2011; Lakhani 2011). For broad critiques of the relationship between counterterrorism, including the P/CVE agenda, and anti-Muslim sentiment see Bertran 2018; Kundnani and Hayes 2018.

⁶² Hussain 2019b; Chalfant 2019; Levin 2019.

⁶³ Ní Aoláin and Huckerby 2018b; Center for Human Rights and Global Justice 2011, 75.

⁶⁴ Allen, Isakjee and Ögtem Young 2013; Perry 2012

⁶⁵ Abu-Lughod 2002; Jilani 2016.

For Abdi, the ban on veiling is a "really practical example of why if you don't have PVE discussions in WPS you will have more women's rights taken away in the name of combatting violent extremism." Abdi continued:

Think about it. The first thing that normally happens in any place where there's war or conflict, the people who suffer first are the women. Someone takes away a right. Clothing. WPS is also there to protect women during these times. Whether there's peace or whether there's democracy they're supposed to protect women, because women's rights are human rights. But if you don't engage on extreme violence discussions, you give room for those who are mostly predominantly men to come up with ridiculous laws like this one. If we don't say anything, it will be worse. It will start off with the hijab, and before long it will be worse because of Islamophobia and the like... This how things are taken away, slowly with time in the name of protection.

The security architecture built up in the name of CT and P/CVE has undoubtedly had a negative impact on Muslim communities around the world. Violence cannot be successfully prevented if the approaches used are oppressive to women or to particular ethnic and religious groups. For Abdi, concerns about the gendered harms of P/CVE security policies and the encroachment on women's rights are precisely the reasons why WPS actors must engage with P/CVE. "If we don't engage, there will be more challenges," she insists. "We have to engage."

Box 5: Global Reflection | India

India experiences a range of violence classified as or associated with "terrorism" or "violent extremism," including violent conflict in the India-administered Kashmir region; Hindu extremism; left-wing extremism; insurgency in the north-eastern states; and other "terror" attacks throughout the country.

Aditi,* an NGO leader in India working with youth across northern India, criticizes the discourse around PVE, which conflates "violent extremism" with "Islam." This conflation contributes to anti-Muslim racism: "If a white boy gets into this, he is an aberration," Aditi explained. "There is a very obvious distinction—it's kind of racist." The association of PVE with Islamic extremism also misrepresents the complexity of violence India faces. "Political radicalization towards the right is the real problem here," she stated. "The biggest problem in India is not Islamic radicalization as much as it is Hindu radicalization." And yet, funding to work on Hindu radicalization is nearly impossible to obtain in India because international donors fear retribution from the government, which is primarily Hindu.

Aditi has faced other difficulties with donor requirements, including unreasonable expectations and outcomes for PVE programming. "Funders ask us to do the impossible," Aditi explained.

"Specifically when you are looking at violent extremism, which is really not straightforward. We need a large margin of error. Currently there is no space for experimentations." Further, peacebuilding organizations need support for long-term interventions: "de-radicalization cannot be a one-off workshop. Which is what we end up doing."

Because of the challenges with PVE funding, Aditi tries to not accept funds labeled "PVE" or, even worse, "CVE," and to work with donors that understand the complexity of the problems. Ultimately, Aditi and her team find the PVE agenda problematic, because "it makes the people the problem, rather than making the system the problem." The focus should be on the underlying structural issues which give rise to violence, rather than on individuals.

| | December of the control of the contr |
|------------|--|
| | Based on phone interview with Aditi, June 2019 |
| *Pseudonym | |

Part II: WPS and the Prevention of Violence

Following the endorsement of UNSCR 2242 in 2015, there has been increased attention on the gender dimensions of violence labelled "terrorism" and "violent extremism" and increased calls for women's participation in the prevention of violent conflict and for a better understanding of the gender dynamics of such violence. CEDAW's observations of Switzerland's third NAP 1325 support the call for building the capacity of women, including women's CSOs, in CT and for the inclusion of a gender perspective in P/CVE strategies.⁶⁶ The recently endorsed fourth Swiss NAP 1325 emphasizes the need to integrate the WPS and P/CVE agendas and to recognize the various roles women play in the context of violence labelled "violent extremism" and "terrorism," including as agents of prevention, as victims, and as perpetrators. However, as detailed above, the P/CVE and CT agendas may have unintended negative consequences for the work of human rights and CSOs, and in particular for women-led and women's rights organizations. While the negative impact of CT is well documented, there are no existing comprehensive studies which examine the impact of the P/CVE agenda on women, women-led and women's rights organizations.⁶⁷

Drawing on existing feminist critiques of integrating the WPS and P/CVE agendas as well as the experiences and perspectives of women leaders and women's rights activists in Kenya, this chapter explores how the WPS agenda can promote violence prevention which accounts for the gendered dynamics of both state and non-state violence perpetrated in the context of "violent extremism." Importantly, our study in Kenya found that it is precisely because of the critiques of the P/CVE agenda that women-led CSOs in Kenya see the need for the WPS agenda to inform the P/CVE agenda. Women play diverse roles in relationship to the enactment and prevention of violence and yet gendered assumptions about women's agency—such as the belief that women are inherently peaceful, apolitical, or vulnerable—often result in gender-blind approaches to understanding women's roles in systems of militarism and organized violence. To counteract gender-blind security strategies, women-led CSOs and women community leaders in Kenya and elsewhere are advocating for the inclusion of women leaders and a gender perspective in the development of security policy and programming. Taking the perspectives from women-led and women's rights organizations seriously, Part II will discuss some of the key issues occurring at the intersection of WPS and P/CVE including: 1) the importance of women's leadership and participation in decision-making regarding security measures; 2) gendered assumptions regarding women's role as security agents within their homes and communities; and 3) women's agency and gendered harms in the context of the perpetration of "violent extremism."

Box 6: Global Reflection | United Kingdom

The United Kingdom's (UK's) Prevent strategy, part of the country's broader counterterrorism agenda, is regarded as the first practical example of P/CVE. Expanded after the 2005 London bombings, Prevent is designed to combat domestic "radicalization" and "violent extremism" through community education and intervention. The program has come under intense scrutiny by human rights advocates for discriminatory surveillance practices of Muslim communities which increases stigmatization and marginalization and are counter-productive to the aims of violence prevention.

Organizations working in the UK within the context of P/CVE and the Prevent strategy are challenged by the negative associations of P/CVE with Islamophobia. For instance, a practitioner who works on violence prevention training in classrooms, focusing on both right-wing extremism and Islamist extremism, experiences skepticism by students and teachers who fear the conflation of Islam with "terrorism." These negative connotations make it difficult to engage in effective violence prevention under the umbrella term of P/CVE. There is also a perception that the UK government responds differently to far-right extremism than it does to Islamic extremism and that the media contributes to the conflation of "Islam" and "violent extremism." This conflation will lead to increased isolation and marginalization of Muslim communities as well as potentially increased radicalization. Overall, the understanding and representation of the violent extremism is the key to violence prevention and the negative associations with the P/CVE agenda make this work difficult.

Based on phone interview conducted with a UK-based practitioner, May 2019

⁶⁶ CEDAW 2016, 5.

⁶⁷ Satterthwaite and Huckerby 2013; Ní Aoláin 2015; United Nations General Assembly 2009; Center for Human Rights and Global Justice 2011.

6. Women's Access to Decision-Making in Peace and Security

Key Messages

- Women's meaningful participation in all levels of decision-making related to peace and security policy and programming is essential for the prevention of violence.
- UNSCR 2242 provides women a policy instrument with which to argue for their inclusion in developing P/CVE policy and approaches that are in line with the objectives of WPS.
- Ensuring that women's participation is meaningful and contributes to women's empowerment and gender equality requires more than the rhetorical inclusion of women and gender in CT and P/CVE policy.

Women's participation in decision-making on issues related to peace and security is essential for challenging patriarchal and male-dominated structures. While there has been a great deal of emphasis on promoting women's participation in P/CVE and CT since the endorsement of UNSCR 2242, there remains a disconnect between such policy commitments and the actual practice of women's participation. Further, WPS actors and feminist scholars argue that the rhetorical promotion of women's inclusion in P/CVE largely happens without addressing structural gender inequality which constrains women's political participation in the first place.⁶⁸ UNSCR 2242, which calls for the increased participation and leadership of women and women's organizations in the development of CT and P/CVE strategies, gives women a tool with which to argue for their inclusion in decision-making processes for security policy and approaches. Given the critiques of the P/CVE agenda, women in Kenya insist on their inclusion in its evolution and implementation in order to ensure that security policies are reflective of the gendered realities on the ground and account for the specific gendered harms that women face.

In Kenya, women's rights activists and women-led organizations have been effective in peacebuilding long before the P/CVE agenda emerged.⁶⁹ In response to the violence perpetrated by both al-Shabaab and security forces, women-led CBOs and networks are increasingly engaged in a broad range of violence prevention and conflict transformation work, including promoting dialogue between police and civilians; providing psychosocial support for women who have lost a family member either to joining a non-state armed group or to enforced disappearance or EJK; creating space for women to meet and discuss their experiences; and raising women's awareness regarding early indicators of their children wanting to join or being recruited by a non-state armed group.

Despite the clear recognition that violence identified as "violent extremism" or "terrorism" has a direct impact on women and girls, in Kenya the WPS and the P/CVE agendas are not integrated at the national policy level. Kenya's NAP 1325 (2016-2018) only very briefly mentions the relationship of WPS to CT and P/CVE and the Kenya NSCVE does not mention women or gender at all. However, peacebuilding organizations and women's rights activists in Kenya have been advocating for the integration of the WPS and P/CVE agendas, advocacy which has resulted in the majority of the County Action Plans on P/CVE containing explicit reference to the role of women and gender. At the national level, however, conversations have stalled regarding how to best integrate the WPS and P/CVE agendas. In late 2018, a two-day meeting with key stakeholders was held to discuss how the two policy instruments should inform each other. Abdi explained that despite two full days of meeting, no conclusion was reached: "As of now it's not happening," she explained. "The NAP 1325 does not inform CVE and the CVE strategy does not inform the NAP [1325]."

⁶⁸ Ní Aoláin and Huckerby 2018b

⁶⁹ For example, Wajir Women for Peace, who operate in north-eastern Kenya, is one for the foremost peace initiatives in the country, run entirely by women and held up as a global model of the importance of women for peace. Given their proximity to the Kenya-Somalia border, this organization has long been working to address the violence and conflict produced by both non-state armed groups and state security forces in their region (Juma 2000; Abdi and Jenner 1996). Also see Kabongah 2011.

NSCVE is not available online; see Ogada 2017 for analysis.

The lack of a coherent strategy to address the gendered dimensions of violence perpetrated by both state and non-state actors in the context of "violent extremism" is frustrating to WPS actors in Kenya. In Isiolo, women leaders pointed out that if it weren't for women, there would be no progress on preventing their children from joining al-Shabaab, or addressing the violence perpetrated by security forces. Yet despite their daily violence prevention work, they are largely excluded from decision-making both within their own communities and at the national level. "We need women to be part of this discussion," a woman leader said. "Because when discussion is being done, when men are coming with the resolutions, women are not aware of what they have discussed. We need to ask women so that they can come with what they have learned." UNSCR 2242 provides a tool with which women can advocate for their participation in the design and implementation of security measures. As a woman leader in Isiolo stated in reference to UNSCR 2242, "Anything that talks on behalf of women, we need to uphold it, and fight for it. Because men will never give us a space."

In Kenya, women-led and women's rights organizations are working relentlessly to bridge the gap between communities and national policymakers on P/CVE. For instance, Abdi holds workshops to foster dialogue between women directly affected by violence perpetrated in the context of "violent extremism" and women parliamentarians who hold policy positions in order to get the parliamentarians "to understand the plight on what is happening on the ground." In Isiolo, women leaders expressed frustration that the issues of P/CVE had not been addressed by the Kenya NAP 1325 in a way that tangibly impacted local women's organizations. "1325 is good, it's something we have interacted with, but it has also eclipsed 2242," a woman leader explained. "Not so many people know that 2242 is inside 1325, even the women leaders. We really do not know. There has been no popularization, no sensitization." Further, effective violence prevention programming must be developed based on what communities need and yet the majority of CBOs are led by men. Abdi argues that while the Kenyan NAP 1325 has been successful in promoting women's greater participation at the national level and increasing women's representation in parliament, "there is not enough of a push to have women leading [CBOs] and those are the institutions that make more sense than the political level. Where do you have the PVE leaders? At the community level."

11

Anything that talks on behalf of women, we need to uphold it, and fight for it. Because men will never give us a space.

11

Woman leader in Isiolo

While UNSCR 2242 provides women an opportunity to argue for their inclusion in development and implementation of P/CVE security approaches, merely having women part of decision-making processes is not in and of itself transformative. Indeed, one of the largest critiques of linking the WPS and the P/CVE agendas concerns the instrumentalization of women's empowerment and gender equality as tools for national security, rather than as ends in themselves and without the sustained material support and structural changes actually needed to improve women's lives. 71 As Ní Aoláin argues, "The expansion of WPS to include women in the counterterrorism domain does not mean that women will be included in defining what constitutes terrorism and what counterterrorism strategies are compliant with human rights and equality, or that all the harms on women as a result of terrorism and counterterrorism strategies will be addressed even-handedly."72 Ensuring that women's participation is meaningful and contributes to transforming security approaches in line with WPS objectives of women's empowerment and gender equality requires more than the rhetorical inclusion of women and gender in CT and P/CVE policy. National policy must reflect the needs of communities and promote security as defined by local women peacebuilders, and having both women participate and promote feminist objectives can contribute to this goal. As Ayindo states, "CVE is still very typical patriarchal, male response to issues. We need to do more violence. If you give us violence, we'll do double, triple violence." Ayindo suggests that feminist approaches to peace and security can transform the design and implementation of security measures: "Feminist research and women's research on those issues [on P/CVE] will bring perspectives that ordinarily governments don't want to consider when they are tackling issues of violence."

⁷¹See Ní Aoláin 2016; Brown 2013; Giscard d'Estaing 2017; Winterbotham and Pearson 2017; LSE Centre for Women, Peace and Security 2017; Coomaraswamy 2015; Gender Action for Peace and Security 2018.

⁷² Ní Aoláin 2016, 276.

Women leaders in Isiolo illustrate the importance of women's perspectives on P/CVE. In the aftermath of the Dusit attack, which was allegedly orchestrated by a young man from Isiolo, women leaders stepped into help their fractured community. After the mother and older sister of the attacker were detained, his three younger sisters were left without care. One of the women leaders present in our focus group discussion opened her home to the young girls. "This is what we are faced with," a woman leader explained. "The children have school fees and these are girls who really want safety and that's why she has taken them in her house." This small example of the work these women leaders are doing in their community in the face of extreme violence demonstrates the importance of attending to the small, social relationships that are broken in the wake of violence, of providing protection for those left behind, and of the community healing necessary to interrupt cycles of violence. Indeed, these young girls would have been shunned and isolated if it were not for these women leaders. As a woman leader put it: "I think this is how we should do P/CVE. Give it a human face. As women, we want to put a human face to what we are doing."

Box 7: Global Reflection | Palestine

The militarized occupation of Palestine has had devastating impact on the mental, emotional, physical, and economic well-being of Palestinians, with disproportionate effect on women and children. Restrictions on movement, alteration of demographic composition, expansion of illegal settlements, house demolitions, and residency revocation and many policies of apartheid breach human rights of Palestinians on a daily basis. Moreover, persistent aggression on Gaza has contributed to a growing humanitarian crisis and an increase in gender-based violence. Israel's military violence and breaches of international law often receive lack of action by the international community, and Israel continues to enjoy a culture of impunity. However women's and human rights defenders are targeted by both the occupation's violence and often by state violence during many peaceful demonstrations, which violates the right to non-violent assembly and freedom of expression. The security of Palestinian women, and women in Gaza in particular, is imperative in light of escalating colonial violence.

Sandie Hanna, Communications and Advocacy manager at the grassroots and women's rights organization Palestinian Working Women Society for Development (PWWSD) believes that women must be actively included in all levels of decision-making in order to promote just and durable peace and counter violence. For instance, women's active engagement in designing policies, drafting amendments to laws, participating in local governance, in legal and education reform, and in peacebuilding negotiations is essential to the prevention of further violence. Regarding gender-based violence, Hanna believes that "when women and girls are protected during militarization and colonial oppression; they become less likely to be systematically targeted by violence, mainly sexual violence, during wars and conflicts." Moreover "when educational curricula are made gender-sensitive and tolerant to differences and accepting of diversity, they become more likely to mitigate religious fundamentalism and obedience, which tend to encourage radicalization." PWWSD works toward this aim by combatting violence against women and girls, empowering women, offering psycho-social support, encouraging their political participation, and promoting women's rights as human rights based on equality and full citizenship.

Further, while the WPS agenda in Palestine addresses the need to counter the extreme violence of the occupation, its key challenge remains the lack of clear, legally-binding or universally accepted definitions of "violent extremism" or "PVE." As Hanna explains, the WPS agenda "should ideally be the result of a mutual collaboration between the government and civil society, anywhere across the globe. But governments usually adopt a 'war on terror' [approach] which undermines human rights and the rule of law. Within that approach, heavy investments are undertaken in militarized security responses on behalf of development. Yet when priority is given to preventing and combating extremism (again, regardless the means) while disregarding human rights and the rule of law, the WPS agenda fails to address root causes of violence."

Based on phone interview with Sandie Hanna (PWWSD) by Virginie Poyetton, June 2019

7. Gender Stereotypes in the P/CVE Agenda

Key Messages

- Programming on women's participation in P/CVE risks reproducing gender stereotypes.
- Promoting women's participation as security agents within their homes and communities potentially
 endangers women and burdens them with the responsibility of security without the necessary resources and
 protection.

Programming on women's participation in P/CVE can reaffirm gender stereotypes which constrain rather than expand women's political agency. Without women's full participation in all levels of decision-making, gendered assumptions will continue to shape the development of both policy and programming around P/CVE. For instance, assumptions about women's inherent passivity lead to the belief that women, and mothers in particular, are better suited to participate in prevention activities within their homes and communities.⁷³ Indeed, women are viewed as naturally pre-disposed to act as agents of "de-radicalization" within their homes and communities or as key informants in "early warning systems."⁷⁴ Women are considered uniquely suited to detect and disrupt early signs of violence given their strategic location within the home and their emotional connection to their children. These gendered assumptions have led to the development of P/CVE policy and programming which identifies civilian women—and mothers in particular—as "essential participants in an effective security paradigm." For instance, the non-governmental organization (NGO) Women Without Borders and Sisters Against Violent Extremism (SAVE) developed a program called "Mothers' Schools," which trains mothers in P/CVE approaches. The program is based on the idea that "mothers contain valuable data on what renders individuals vulnerable to radical influences" and "can shed light on the behavior and decisions that are incomprehensible to those on the outside." In addition, the program believes that with the proper training, empowerment and capacity building, mothers have the potential to "serve as a buffer between radical influences and those who are next to be targeted."76

In Kenya, the CSOs and consultants on gender and P/CVE interviewed for this study largely agreed that women's influential role in the family and in society makes them a key component to violence prevention. For instance, a woman peacebuilder in Mombasa stated that not including local, grassroots women in P/CVE is a mistake: "Women naturally could detect anything. Be they learned or not learned. They know a lot about their kids, a lot about their sons—these women are not being included." Male peacebuilders were also in agreement that women had a greater role to play in violence prevention. Stephen Kadenyo, the executive director of the peacebuilding organization Pamoja for Transformation, understands women as possessing "soft power"—such as emotional intelligence, empathy and social influence—which are essential tools for violence prevention. "The bottom line is that women are the primary social agents so that has a lot of connection on how women will be able to influence other young people," he explained. "Whether her children, her relatives, or just any young people in the community... [women] even take certain risks we would not expect of them to take because they say, 'how about if it was my child?'"

⁷³ This notion of mothers as uniquely suited for violence prevention is not particular to the P/CVE agenda, but has a long history of being mobilized for feminist anti-war activism. In short, the belief is that given women's biological capacity to produce life, they have a unique standpoint from which to argue against war and violence. The conflation of women, mothering, and peace has been widely critiqued by feminists for the ways in which it reduces women to their reproductive capacity, reaffirms oppressive gendered arrangements, and stands to negate women's capacity for wider political agency.

⁷⁴ d'Estaing 2017: 106-108.

⁷⁵ Schlaffer and Kropiunigg 2016: 55.

⁷⁶ Schlaffer and Kropiunigg 2016: 55.

There are a number of critiques of programs designed to build the capacity of mothers as agents of prevention within their homes and communities. Insisting that women are naturally suited to detect and prevent their children from engaging in violence risks placing sole responsibility on the mother if her child does join a non-state armed group or perpetrate violence. As peace and security analyst Sophie Giscard d'Estaing writes, programs such as Mothers' Schools "have a narrow, instrumentalist focus on women as mothers and wives in the private sphere of the home, and in some cases actually shifts responsibility in discourses around extremism from states to civil society—and in particular to mothers, who are assigned responsibility for the potential radicalization of their children."⁷⁷

Women leaders in Isiolo discussed the retribution women can experience when their children join or are suspected of joining a non-state armed group. "We are actually seeing mothers being victimized," a woman leader stated. "When a child disappears or grows up and is not of good character, then it is the mother's child. If the child is good, it is the father's child. It's important that both parents have an equal role in bring up the child." Programs designed to instrumentalize women's capacity as mothers stand to reinforce the idea that not only do women have a greater responsibility in the rearing of children than men, but that women have an innate ability to detect signs of potential violent behavior in their children—and the failure to do this means the failure to be a "good mother." This assumption drastically oversimplifies the diverse social and familial structures within which women live and potentially puts women at risk for exclusion from their communities or even retribution from non-state armed groups. As a consultant on gender and P/CVE in Nairobi cautioned, "Empower women, yes, but don't burden them with the whole responsibility."

Empower women, yes, but don't burden them with the whole responsibility.

Consultant on gender and P/CVE in Nairobi

Programs designed to train mothers as P/CVE agents risk instrumentalizing the discourse of "women's empowerment" without ensuring the structural changes necessary to address gendered power dynamics and underlying gender inequalities. Ní Aoláin argues that UNSCR 2242 promotes this "rather naïve view of women's capacity, in highly fraught communities and societies, where as a practical matter their status is limited, and their equality is not guaranteed." Promoting women's role as P/CVE agents in their homes and communities further relegates their participation to the private, domestic sphere rather than incorporating women in broader political processes which determine the design and implementation of security measures. For Ayindo, this tension is at the heart of women's role in violence prevention and conflict transformation. "They influence the young people a lot, so it just makes sense that women should be involved," he said. "The danger is, I think, that we've not gone far enough in the manner in which we articulate women's role in peacebuilding without all those typical elements of tokenism." Ultimately, arguments for women's participation in political processes and security structures should not reduce women to their utility, but should instead be grounded in their rights as political subjects and human beings, resulting in a widening rather than a narrowing of their political agency.

⁷⁷ Giscard d'Estaing 2017: 107.

⁷⁸ Giscard d'Estaing 2017: 107.

⁷⁹ Ní Aoláin 2016: 286.

⁸⁰ This tension is seen in other fields of peacebuilding as well, particularly meditation.

Box 8: Global Reflection | Bangladesh

Violent extremist attacks against academics, bloggers, journalists, foreigners, and religious leaders have led to increased national and international attention on the P/CVE agenda in Bangladesh. Although the Bangladesh government has taken measures to improve the situation and to include CSOs in peace processes, greater attention must be paid to secular ideas and ideologies as division among religious and minority groups continues to grow. Women in particular must be the focus of comprehensive peace programs as they are the primary victims of violence, including domestic violence and violence perpetrated by non-state armed actors.

Fawzia Khondker of PRAGROSHOR, a peacebuilding, human rights, and women's rights organization, explains that the language of "violent extremism" does not necessarily resonate with communities. "In Bangladesh people do not know that much about violent extremism. Definitions or objectives are not clear to them. I think it is better to not directly talk about violent extremism, but look at injustices in the families and in the society and then you can link to the violent extremism." Not only do communities not identify the issues they are facing as related to violent extremism, but they are reluctant and even fearful to speak about it: "People are afraid to talk about the issue. The term already sounds very negative; it's better to use positive words. When we say we are working for peace, then it's positive and the communities are more open. Talking about peacebuilding is more attractive and more accepted by society." Given this, PRAGROSHOR does not name their work "PVE" even as they believe it contributes to the prevention of violent extremism.

Further, for women in Bangladesh, the primary issue they face in their day-to-day lives is domestic violence, not "violent extremism." According to Khondker, more than 50 percent of women in Bangladesh experience domestic violence, which negatively impacts women's ability to participate in decision-making processes. PRAGROSHOR believes that gender equality and women's empowerment are key tools to prevent the spread of radicalization and that gender should be mainstream in security institutions, but also that security institutions should be rethought and informed by the needs and perspectives of communities and women in particular. "We should involve women in peacebuilding processes," Khondker insists. "Because women are subjects and not objects."

Based on phone interview with Fawzia Khondker (PRAGROSHOR) by Mithra Akhbari, June 2019

8. Women's Agency and Gendered Harms in the Context of "Violent Extremism"

Key Messages

- The full spectrum of women's agency is often unaccounted for in P/CVE policy and programming.
- Women's participation in "violent extremism" is shaped by political, economic, and social factors.
- The failure to account for gendered differences in returnees poses serious risks to women and girls
 including economic consequences, lack of adequate reproductive and mental health care, increased stigmatization from communities and lack of opportunities, and re-recruitment.

Women play diverse roles and have a range of experiences, including as perpetrators, victims, agents of prevention, and peacebuilders. However, this broad range of agency is often not sufficiently accounted for in P/CVE policy and programming, leading to additional gendered harms. This section will discuss the gendered assumptions regarding women's involvement in non-state armed groups and the harms associated with such assumptions, including the failure to account for women's return from violent organizations.

Violence deemed "terrorism" or "violent extremism" remains overwhelmingly perpetrated by men. However, even as women comprise a small fraction of perpetrators, they are increasingly participating as direct perpetrators and combatants, sympathizers, and mobilizers of non-state armed violence.⁸¹ Recently, there has been an increase in attention to women as perpetrators, largely due to the rise of young Western women traveling to Iraq and Syria.⁸² Yet, women's participation in non-state armed groups is largely understood to be aberrant, resulting in security approaches that are absent an understanding of the gender dynamics of non-state armed groups. Indeed, the motivations behind individuals' participation in non-state armed groups are diverse and studies show that there is no single profile of who is likely to join.⁸³ While some findings suggest that women are more likely than men to be physically or psychologically coerced, greater research is needed to understand the gendered dynamics which drive both men and women to participate in non-state armed groups.⁸⁴

Women, like men, might be driven by grievances about socio-economic political conditions; grief about the death of a loved one; political or social marginalization; or as a transformative act, to gain power and agency over a feeling or state of victimhood. In addition, women also join non-state armed groups due to insecurity and in order to gain protection from violence and gendered harm, including sexual violence, perpetrated by other civilians or security forces. However, given the lack of gender analysis of both men and women's recruitment to and participation in non-state armed groups, policies tend to ignore women altogether or reproduce gender stereotypes that deny women's agency. For instance, women who commit violence are often considered to be easily manipulated, duped, or victims of "false consciousness." Unlike men, their involvement is usually explained through recourse to their emotional or mental state. Unlike men, their involvement is usually explained through recourse to their emotional or mental state. The discourse of "jihadi brides," for instance, represents such women as sexually-deviant, lured or seduced by men. Failure to analyze women's participation in non-state armed groups within a wider social, political, and economic context contributes to gendered stereotypes of women as apolitical and passive and men as inherently violent.

⁸¹ Bloom 2011; Gentry and Sjoberg 2011; Carter 2013; Bigio and Vogelstein 2019.

⁸² Ní Aoláin and Huckerby 2018a. In Kenya, donor interest has increased attention to research on the issue of women joining al-Shabaab and other non-state armed groups (see Badurdeen 2016 and 2018)

⁸³ See, for instance: Mercy Corps 2016; UNDP 2017.

⁸⁴ Fink, Barakat and Shetret, 2013: 3.

⁸⁵ See Mazurana 2013.

⁸⁶ See Huckerby 2015.

⁸⁷ Ní Aoláin and Huckerby 2018a. It is also important to note that these gendered stereotypes are also deeply racialized. "Violent extremism" as perpetrated by white men is often problematically explained through a mental health framework rather than a political or ideological one.

In Kenya, for instance, women are reported to join al-Shabaab for a wide range of reasons, including grievance against the state after the disappearance or EJK of their husband or sons. In addition, women who have lost their husbands or sons face increased economic precarity and social marginalization. As Hemed explains, "If a man is killed and leaves behind a wife with kids, the government does not put in place any measures to see how best to handle this woman. She is left with kids that need to be taken care of, she cannot go out and seek any employment because nobody wants to hire her, she is rejected by society. Nobody wants to associate with her. That woman is traumatized because of the loss of her husband. What do you expect from that woman? And that's why we see that women are now crossing the border." In Isiolo, women leaders expressed difficulty to truly understand why the young girls in their community were joining non-state armed groups. They hypothesized that the girls felt marginalized by the police; that they felt hopeless to secure employment despite being well educated; that they were lured by the promises of material goods and kind husbands; or that they saw a way out of the oppressive gender relations they saw at home and in their communities.⁸⁸

In addition to women's recruitment to and participation in non-state armed groups, women also experience a wide range of harm as returnees from such groups.⁸⁹ While there is increasing attention to the issue of sexual slavery and the trafficking of women and girls by non-state armed groups such as ISIL, Boko Haram, and al-Shabaab, the challenges facing women returnees are largely unaccounted for in P/CVE policy and programming.⁹⁰ A recent report by the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and the International Civil Society Action Network (ICAN) finds that there is a "lack of coherent national and international policies pertaining to the treatment of those returning from transnational violent extremism and terrorist groups" and further, that for women and children returnees "there is an even wider chasm between on-the-ground realities and global policies."⁹¹ The failure to account for gendered differences in returnees poses serious risks to women and girls including economic consequences, lack of adequate reproductive and mental health care, increased stigmatization from communities and lack of opportunities, and re-recruitment.⁹² The gaps and challenges related to the disengagement, rehabilitation and reintegration of women and girls returned from non-state armed groups must be addressed to prevent further harm.⁹³ The knowledge, experience and practice of CSOs—and women-led CSOs in particular—is crucial in this context.

During our field research in Kenya, the issue of returnees was brought up in nearly every interview, albeit sometimes with great caution. Given that there is no comprehensive legal and security framework for returnees, many organizations balance fear of reprisal from the government or security forces with the need to be transparent about their work. The Mombasa-based organization Human Rights Agenda (HURIA), informs the NCTC about their work with returnees in order to protect their staff and to link returnees with the services the NCTC provides. However, as Hassan Abdille, the Executive Director of MUHURI explains, many organizations fear working with returnees due to the risk of being labelled as a "terrorist sympathizer." The space for civil society to safely engage with returnees and work toward their rehabilitation and reintegration is deeply constrained by many of the issues discussed through this report—including CTF laws, state-perpetrated violence, Islamophobia, and the stigmatization and marginalization of both returnees and their families.

Despite these challenges, HURIA has been able to work with over 130 "women victims of terror" across Kwale, Mombasa, and Kilifi counties, which includes women who have experienced a broad range of harm in relationship to "violent extremism," including women who have gone to Somalia and returned, and children whose parents or siblings had joined al-Shabaab. Regarding mothers who had gone to Somalia to try and find their children, Abdille explains that "when they come back the government arrests them and accuses them of linking of with al-Shabaab. But because they have that pain, they want to go find their son or daughter. It has been a major problem. We have no proper

⁸⁸ Badurdeen's research supports many of these hypotheses (2016) and also provides additional context on the broad spectrum of reasons that women might voluntarily or involuntarily participate in al-Shabaab.

⁸⁸ In this report we follow the definition of returnees used by Anderlini and Holmes: "all individuals returning from association with violent extremism groups" which allows for discussion of return whether across national borders or within a community (2019, 24).

⁹⁰ Recent data estimates that approximately 4,761 (or 13 per cent) of individuals who travelled to Iraq or Syria were women (UN Security Council Counter-Terrorism Committee Executive Directorate 2019. 6)

⁹¹ Anderlini and Holmes 2019, 10. Globally, the issue of returnees and foreign fighters (individuals who travel from their country of origin to conflict-affected areas to participate in organized violence) has received increased recent attention due to the diversity of individuals traveling to regions such as Syria and Iraq. Foreign fighters and returnees raise questions regarding the relationship of nationality and the application of international humanitarian law; the legality of citizenship revocation; and the competing security interests of states (see Malet 2013; Krähenmann forthcoming). Recent instances of European states revoking the citizenship of foreign fighters have come under scrutiny by human rights experts (e.g. see United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner 2019).

⁹² Anderlini and Holmes 2019 9

⁹³ Practitioners experienced in demobilization, disarmament, and reintegration (DDR) processes have conceptualized disengagement, rehabilitation and reintegration to mean "disengagement from the group; rehabilitation of the individual, family and community; and reintegration into society" (Anderlini and Holmes 2019, 10).

framework in place." It is within this murky context—where the motivations of women and girls who join non-state armed groups are exceedingly difficult to differentiate—that the work of CBOs is essential. For instance, HURIA's programming fosters community trust and solidarity, builds women's capacity as peacebuilders, breaks the isolation that women feel, links women with economic opportunities, and helps them to get access to psychological support for trauma and medical assistance for conditions such as HIV.



Overall, women face a wide range of issues related to their participation in or proximity to non-state armed groups and state security actors. Such issues—including threats to physical safety, emotional and psychological impacts such as living in near constant fear of violence; sexual violence; stigmatization from their communities; profiling and harassment by security forces; the disruption of families, and economic deprivation—are widely unaddressed by security policy and programming. Given the complexity surrounding women's involvement in non-state armed groups, CBOs— and women-led organizations in particular—must be consulted and their perspectives must be integrated into security measures.

Box 9: Global Reflection | Mali

Mali faces extraordinary levels of violence and insecurity driven by poverty, underdevelopment, marginalization, and poor governance. Civilian populations are caught in between national and international security forces, community militias, and non-state armed groups such as Jama'at Nusrat al-Islam wal-Muslimin (JNIM) and al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb (AQIM), with reports of egregious human rights violations perpetrated by all parties. Violent organizations capitalize on and contribute to a growing humanitarian crisis, including food insecurity and internally displaced people.

While counterterrorism operations in Mali remain ongoing, the government has also recently adopted a national P/CVE strategy to work with local CSOs to try and address the "root causes" of the crisis. For instance, the Association Malienne pour La Survie au Sahel (AMSS) has been working with local communities in Mali's northern region for more than 20 years to address humanitarian needs, including development, food security, and community protection with a special emphasis on the role of women. Their most recent work has focused on peacebuilding and P/CVE to build community resilience through dialogue and community awareness raising. In their programming, AMSS intentionally uses the terms "violent extremism" and "radicalization" in order to provide information to local communities on how these organizations operate and what will happen to them and their families if they are recruited. In addition, AMSS provides religious education and uses radio messaging to counter the ways that violent extremist organisations "deform" Islam in their recruitment strategies. In order to counter the narratives being spread by violent organizations, AMSS's language and approach is explicitly framed as P/CVE, because, as they explain, this was an issue that came to them: "Our organization was focused on humanitarian responses to drought or social issues like schooling, notably for young girls. But our zone of activities became the preferred target zone of the terrorists. They descended upon us and we had to react quickly to these changes because their first priority was to influence our young people..."

Another organisation, Réseau des Jeunes Femmes Leaders des Partis Politiques et des Organisations de la société Civile (REJEFPO), has been implementing P/CVE programming for two years. REJEFPO also uses the language of "violent extremism" but works to translate the concept to communities: "People don't understand when it starts, when something is extremist—it's a language problem because it's not our language. When we talk about it we have to translate the concept. We use exchanges, debates, dialogues to help them understand... The perception is different. Even though we try to make them understand, this is foreign to our culture... International media is the reason that such behaviour is now called 'terrorist.'"

Both REJEFPO and AMSS run programming specifically designed to increase women's awareness of P/CVE and to build women's capacity as peacebuilders. Women, particularly those seeking ways to provide for young children, are targeted for recruitment by violent organizations. For REJEFPO, this work is essential because "Young women are the first affected—assaults on their dignity, rape—and they're the most vulnerable so every aspect of capacity building for them becomes a focal point for mobilizing against these forces. It allows them to take charge of their own security, to move from passivity to action." However, REJEFPO also recognizes that the attention to P/CVE can distract from the other forms of violence women face, including domestic abuse and even murder: "These cases are not followed by prison time because violence against women is normalized and not taken seriously, while violence that is equally barbarous practiced by terrorists attracts so much attention."

Based on interviews with Loda Coulibaly and Habibatou Nagnouma Traoré (REJEFPO) and Mohamed Abdoulaye Modibo Diakite (AMSS) by Fairlie Chappuis and Moussa Sanogo, June 2019

Carayol, Geel and Rabecq 2017.

[&]quot; OCHA 2019.

iii United States Department of State 2018.

Conclusion: Resistance and Transformation

The P/CVE agenda faces serious challenges. The lack of definitional clarity on what constitutes "violent extremism" risks conflating a broader range of activities and beliefs with "terrorism" and legitimizing the "global war on terror," including military interventions. The donor-driven P/CVE agenda risks promoting the needs and interests of the state and international security agenda to the detriment of communities. The P/CVE agenda also contributes to the expansion of legal and political power, posing serious threats to human rights and curtailing civic space. Lastly, the association of P/CVE with the "global war on terror," the targeting and surveillance of Muslim communities, and the rise of Islamophobia and anti-Muslim violence worldwide, renders P/CVE as an approach to violence prevention that is undesirable from a peacebuilding and human rights perspective.

The global reflections offered throughout the report demonstrate that security policy and practice under the security paradigm of "P/CVE" do not adequately address—and in some cases, exacerbate—the daily violence communities face. Women's organizations are faced with increasing challenges regarding their ability to secure funding to support their work in violence prevention, which includes a range of violence not fully captured by the narrow focus on "violent extremism." As explored in Part II, the challenges associated with the P/CVE agenda are precisely why WPS actors find it necessary to engage in the development and implementation of security approaches. Given the large amount of resources channeled into P/CVE and the recent calls to integrate the WPS and P/CVE agendas, WPS actors must act to ensure that the rhetoric of women's empowerment and gender equality is not being promoted in the service of state and international security agendas to the detriment of women's rights and security. While UNSCR 2242 provides a tool with which women can advocate for the inclusion of both women's voices and gender perspectives in security measures, P/CVE programming which emphasizes women's capacity as agents of prevention within their homes and communities risks promoting gender essentialisms which constrain rather than broaden women's political agency. Indeed, while many P/CVE programs which focus on women and gender use the language of "women's empowerment," it is unclear to what extent those programs result in shifting power dynamics which enable women greater choice and control and which contribute to the structural changes needed to ensure gender equality.

11

To be honest, I think the fear of instrumentalizing women has taken such a huge chunk of thinking that is has taken away from the benefit of having the [WPS and P/CVE agendas] working together.

Fauziya Abdi, President of Women in International Security (WIIS)

Nevertheless, for women activists in Kenya, the need to influence the P/CVE agenda from a WPS perspective is clear. Abdi finds that the expression of concern from Western feminists and WPS actors regarding appropriating women and women's rights for a security agenda to be distracting from the real issues: "To be honest, I think the fear of instrumentalizing women has taken such a huge chunk of thinking that is has taken away from the benefit of having the [WPS and P/CVE agendas] working together." Indeed, to assume that women are being instrumentalized without listening to what they want denies women agency and enacts another form of violence. Women must be empowered to define security in their own terms, to participate in the development and implementation of security approaches that best reflect their needs and the needs of their communities. It is the job of WPS actors to ensure that all women have access to this conversation, whether it is to challenge it, shape it, or resist it.

Feminists have always been challenged with determining the best way enact change within male-dominated, patriarchal structures, including security and military institutions. Do you fight for access and then attempt transformation from within? Or do you resist and attempt transformation from outside? As Ayindo states, "If you can get one foot in, then let's get the conversation going. But sometimes we need to take a position where we've got to be on our own as feminists, and then engage." The decision on how to best influence or challenge the design and implementation of P/CVE measures should be left up to women's rights activists and women-led CSOs within a given context. For women leaders in Kenya, abstaining from the conversation is not even an option—they have no choice. To not engage would mean that security agendas continues to develop without the influence of women, without gender analysis, without the attempts of feminist activists to steer the development and implementation of security strategies back to the principles of women and women's rights.

Policy Recommendations

Based on the research, the project steering committee, together with the advisory group, formulated the following policy recommendations. Switzerland, as the implementer of the Swiss National Action Plan on Women, Peace and Security, as a donor agency in international cooperation and funder of strategic partners, and as an influencer of like-minded countries, should:

Increase Funding and Promotion of the Women, Peace and Security Agenda

- Switzerland should continue funding the NAP 1325 on Women, Peace and Security and invest in flexible, long-term funding of programs to address underlying drivers of violent conflict, including gender inequality.
- Within WPS funding streams, Switzerland should fund violence prevention programming that reflects the needs of communities and is grounded in the principles of peacebuilding and human rights beyond a narrow P/CVE agenda.
- Switzerland should fund violence prevention programming which recognizes that "violent extremism" is embedded within a longer continuum of violence which requires holistic peace-building approaches to transform conflict and break cycles of violence.
- In line with the fourth Swiss National Action Plan 1325, Switzerland should continue supporting women's meaningful participation in decision-making processes in all levels of peace and security, and expand its support to include promoting women's leadership in community-based organizations working on violence prevention as well as women's leadership in the development and implementation of security policy and programming.
- Switzerland should counteract gender-blind security strategies by supporting women defining security in their own terms, and ensuring the participation of women leaders as well as the inclusion of a gender perspective in the development and implementation of security approaches.
- Switzerland should ensure that the goals and implementation strategies of the NAP 1325 are anchored in CEDAW and other human rights conventions.
- Actors in the Swiss administration, civil society, and Parliament should continue engaging in continuous and constructive dialogue to ensure a gender perspective and promote the WPS agenda in the realms of peace and security.

Promote and Require Gender Analysis

- Switzerland should require that gender analysis is conducted prior to the design and implementation of any programming related to violence prevention.
- Gender analysis must include understanding the specific gendered impacts of violent conflict; understanding the diverse roles men, women, boys, and girls play in violent conflict; and understanding the gender power dynamics and norms which shape the context.
- Switzerland should invest in research to better understand the gendered dynamics of organized violence and militarism, including the role of masculinity in the perpetration of violence.
- Switzerland should invest in research to better understand the differentiated effects of CT and P/CVE policy and practice on women, women human right defenders, women's rights organizations and civil society more broadly.
- When promoting women's roles in violence prevention, Switzerland should be cautious to not
 unduly burden women or mothers with the sole responsibility of preventing her child from
 engaging in violence. Policy and programming informed by gender analysis should contribute
 to the broadening of women's political agency rather than the reinforcement of gender
 stereotypes.

Enhance Responsible Donor Behavior

- If funding P/CVE programs, Switzerland should ensure that the funding is flexible and long-term and that the program design is based on comprehensive and holistic country-needs assessments and community-needs assessments.
- Switzerland should fund violence prevention programming which allows for language organic to the context and does not require the language of "violent extremism".
- Switzerland should ensure that any P/CVE programs it funds have carefully designed exit strategies and plans for sustainability.
- Programs should promote qualitative and participative methodologies and build on existing knowledge from community-based organizations and contribute to security as defined by the community.
- Switzerland should invest in the development of relevant Monitoring and Evaluation frameworks which do not pose harm to communities, include qualitative methods and require external, independent evaluations while remaining aware that some qualitative measures of success are intangible.

Promote Community-led Definitions of Security

- In the creation of policy and the funding of programming, Switzerland should prioritize community-led definitions of security, particularly as defined by women and other discriminated or marginalized groups.
- Switzerland should not fund programming which prioritizes state security or the protection of transnational industries at the expense of community security, paying special attention to the protection of indigenous peoples and women's human rights defenders.
- Switzerland, as an influencer of like-minded countries, should promote the importance of community-led definitions of security that are informed by a gender analysis in discussion on peace and security at the international level.

Address Negative Connotations and Impacts of the P/CVE Agenda

- Switzerland should acknowledge and address the negative connotations of the P/CVE agenda and be mindful of the risks that civil society organizations might face when associating with the P/CVE agenda.
- Switzerland should include women and men engaged in the prevention of violence in the support and protection framework offered to human rights defenders, and to women human rights defenders in particular.
- Switzerland should address the issues of shrinking civil society space and human rights violations caused by CT and P/CVE legislation and practice by funding and supporting civil society organizations advocating for human rights and working on violence prevention that reflects the needs of communities and that is grounded in the principles of peacebuilding and human rights.
- Switzerland should avoid using the vague and incoherent language of "terrorism" and "violent extremism" and instead promote language which contributes to violence prevention and conflict transformation.
- Switzerland should ensure that domestic policies on PVE are informed by a gender analysis and are reflective of Swiss civil society organizations' peacebuilding experience in violence prevention. Switzerland should be mindful of the risk of endorsing a P/CVE agenda domestically, which implicitly or explicitly contributes to Islamophobia.

Invest in Research on Returnees

- Switzerland should invest in research to better understand the process of disengagement, rehabilitation, and reintegration for returnees, with particular attention to the gendered harms that women face in the process of returning from associated with non-state armed groups.
- Switzerland should promote a holistic approach to disengagement, rehabilitation, and reintegration efforts to include those who were abducted children who were kidnapped or born in captivity and internally displaced persons.
- Switzerland should include civil society organizations, and particularly women's organizations working with returnees in the support and protection framework offered to human rights defenders, and support them in developing effective measures to reintegrate returnees and assist their families.

Critically Assess Participation in Arms Industry

- Switzerland should acknowledge that the P/CVE agenda risks contributing to the growth of the security industry, including the small arms and light weapons industry, which produces greater instability and violent conflict.
- Switzerland should not engage in the sale of any weapons which are used, at any point after the purchase, to perpetrate human rights violations or contribute to the insecurity of communities.
- Switzerland should fund research on the impact of Swiss small arms and lights weapons, and the sale of parts used in the manufacturing of weapons, on women.



Bibliography

- Abbas, Tahir. 2018. "Implementing 'Prevent' in Countering Violent Extremism in the UK: A Left-Realist Critique." *Critical Social Policy* 39(3): 396-412. Available at: www.doi.org/10.1177/0261018318819001
- Abdi, Dekha Ibrahim and Janice Jenner. 1997. "Wajir Community-Based Conflict Management." Paper presented to the USAID Conference on Conflict Resolution in the Greater Horn of Africa.
- Abu-Lughod, Lila. 2002. "Do Muslim Women Really Need Saving? Anthropological Reflections on Cultural Relativism and Its Others." *American Anthropologist* 104(3): 783-790.
- Ackerman, Spencer. 2018. "Trump Ramped Up Drone Strikes in America's Shadow Wars." *The Daily Beast.* November 26. Available at: www.thedailybeast.com/trump-ramped-up-drone-strikes-in-americas-shadow-wars
- Ahmad, Sidrah Maysoon. 2018. "Invisible Violence Against Hypervisible Women: Understanding Islamophobic Violence in the Greater Toronto Area Through Qualitative Interviews and Arts-Based Inquiry." MA Thesis. Available at: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/bitstream/1807/89532/3/Ahmad_Sidrah_M_201806_MA_thesis.pdf
- Alam, Yunis and Charles Husband. 2013. "Islamophobia, Community Cohesion and Counter-terrorism Policies in Britain." *Patterns of Prejudice* 47(3): 235-252. Available at: www.doi.org/10.1080/0031322X.2013.797779
- Allen, Chris. 2010. *Islamophobia*. Surrey, England: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Allen, Chris, Arshad Isakjee and Özlem Ögtem Young. 2013. "Maybe we are Hated": *The Experience and Impact of Anti-Muslim Hate on British Women*. Institute of Applied Social Studies: Birmingham, UK: University of Birmingham. Available at: www.tellmamauk.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/maybewearehated.pdf
- Amnesty International. 2017. *Amnesty International Report 2016/17: The State of the World's Human Rights*. London, UK: Amnesty International Report. Available at: www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/POL1048002017ENGLISH.PDF
- Amnesty International. 2019. *The Hidden War in Somalia: Civilian Casualties from Air Strikes in Lower Shabelle*. London, UK: Amnesty International. Available at: www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/AFR5299522019ENGLISH.PDF
- Anderlini, Sanam Naraghi. 2016. Uncomfortable Truths, *Unconventional Wisdoms: Women's Perspective on Violent Extremism and Security Interventions*. Women's Alliance for Security Leadership. Available at: www.example.com/www.ncg/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/WASL-Security-Brief-2016.pdf
- Anderlini, Sanam Naraghi and Melinda Holmes. 2019. *Invisible Women: Gendered Dimensions of Return, Rehabilitation and Reintegration from Violence Extremism*. New York: UNDP. Available at: www.icanpeacework.org/ wp-content/uploads/2019/02/ICAN-UNDP-Rehabilitation-Reintegration-Invisible-Women-Report-2019.pdf
- Article 19. 2016. "UNHRC 31: Egypt-led 'terrorism' resolution is a danger to human rights." March 31. Available at: www.article19.org/resources/unhrc-31-egypt-led-terrorism-resolution-is-a-danger-to-human-rights/
- Arutyunova, Angelika and Cindy Clark. 2013. Watering the Leaves, Starving the Roots: The Status of Financing for Women's Rights Organizing and Gender Equality. Toronto, Canada: Association for Women's Rights in Development. Available at: www.awid.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/WTL_Starving_Roots.pdf
- Attree, Larry. 2017. "Shouldn't YOU be Countering Violent Extremism?" London, UK: Saferworld. Available at: www.saferworld-indepth.squarespace.com/shouldnt-you-be-countering-violent-extremism
- Aziz, Sahar F. 2017. "Losing the War of Ideas: A Critique of Countering Violent Extremism Programs." *Texas International Law Journal* 52(2): 255-279. Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2913571
- Badurdeen, Fathima A. 2018. "Women and Recruitment in the Al-Shabaab Network: Stories of Women being Recruited by Women Recruiters in the Coastal Region of Kenya." *The African Review* 45(1): 19-48. Available at: www.journals.udsm.ac.tz/index.php/ar/article/view/1662/1628

- Badurdeen, Fathima A. 2016. "Roles, Motivations, and Recruitment Pathways of Kenyan Women Recruited into the Al-Shabaab." In Alamin Mazrui, Kimani Njogu and Paul Goldsmith, eds. *Countering Violent Extremism: Between the Rule of Law and the Quest for Security.* Nairobi, Kenya: Twaweza Publications. Available at: https://www.cve-kenya.org/resources/Countering%20Violent%20Extremism%20in%20Kenya%20_Between%20the%20Rule%20of%20Law%20and%20the%20Quest%20for%20Security_2.pdf
- Baydas, Lana and Shannon N. Green. 2018. *Counterterrorism Measures and Civil Society: Changing the Will, Finding the Way.* Washington, D.C.: Center for Strategic and International Studies. Available at: https://www.csis.org/ analysis/counterterrorism-measures-and-civil-society
- Bayrakli, Enes and Farid Hafez, eds. 2018. *European Islamophobia Report 2017*. Istanbul, Turkey: Foundation for Political, Economic and Social Research (SETA). Available at: www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/EIR 2017.pdf
- Bayrakli, Enes and Farid Hafez, eds. 2016. *European Islamophobia Report 2015*. Istanbul, Turkey: Foundation for Political, Economic and Social Research (SETA). Available at: www.islamophobiaeurope.com/reports/2015/en/EIR_2015.pdf
- Bertran, Lurdes Vidal. 2018. "Islamophobia, Security Narratives and Countering Violent Extremism: Dangerous Liaisons." Sectarianism and the Politics of Hate. Available at: www.iemed.org/observatori/arees-danalisi/arxius-adjunts/anuari/med.2018/Islamophobia_Security_Violent_Lurdes_Vidal_Medyearbook2018.pdf
- Beydoun, Khaled A. 2018. *American Islamophobia: Understanding the Roots and Rise of Fear.* Oakland, CA: University of California Press.
- Beydoun, Khaled A. 2017. "9/11 and 11/9: The Law, Lives and Lies that Bind." *CUNY Law Review* 20(2): 455-466. Available at: www.cunylawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/CUNY-LR-20.2-Full-Issue-PDF.pdf
- Bhulai, Rafia, Allison Peters and Christina Nemr. 2016. "From Policy to Action: Advancing an Integrated Approach to Women and Countering Violent Extremism." New York: Global Center on Cooperative Security. Available at: https://www.globalcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/From-Policy-to-Action_Women-and-PCVE_Policy-Brief_Global-Center_Inclusive-Security.pdf
- Bigio, Jamille and Rachel Vogelstein. 2019. *Women and Terrorism: Hidden Threats, Forgotten Partners*. New York: Council on Foreign Relations. Available at: https://cfrd8-files.cfr.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/
 Discussion_Paper_Bigio_Vogelstein_Terrorism_OR.pdf
- Bloom, Mia. 2011. Bombshell: The Many Faces of Women Terrorists. Toronto, Canada: Penguin.
- Callamard, Agnes. 2015. "Religion, Terrorism and Speech in a 'Post-Charlie Hebdo' World." *Religion and Human Rights* 10(3): 207-228. Available at: www.intgovforum.org/cms/igf2016/uploads/proposal_background_paper/Religion_Terrorism_and_Post_Charlie_Hebdo.pdf
- Capital News. 2019a. "25 Coast civil groups demand review of anti-terrorism law 'curtailing' rights organizations." July 9. Available at: www.capitalfm.co.ke/ news/2019/07/25-coast-civil-groups-demand-review-of-anti-terrorism-law-curtailing-rights-organizations/
- Capital News. 2019b. "President Kenyatta signs amended Statute Law to boost counter-terrorism campaign." July 5. Available at: https://www.capitalfm.co.ke/news/2019/07/ president-kenyatta-signs-amended-statute-law-to-boost-counter-terrorism-campaign/
- Carayol, Rémi, Florent Geel and Antonin Rabecq. 2018. *In Central Mali, Civilian Populations are Caught Between Terrorism and Counterterrorism*. Bamako, Mali: Malian Association of Human Rights (AMDH). Available at: https://www.fidh.org/IMG/pdf/fidh_centre-of-mali_population-sized-between-terrorism-and-counter-terrorism_727_en_november2018.pdf

- Carlile, Alex. 2011. Report to the Home Secretary of Independent Oversight of Prevent Review and Strategy. London, UK: HM Government. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97977/lord-carlile-report.pdf
- Carter, Becky. 2013. *Women and Violent Extremism*. GSDRC Helpdesk Research Report 898. Birmingham, UK: GSDRC. Available at: www.gsdrc.org/docs/open/hdg898.pdf
- Center for Human Rights and Global Justice. 2011. *A Decade Lost: Locating Gender in U.S. Counter-Terrorism.* New York: New York University School of Law. Available at: www.chrgj.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/locating-gender.pdf
- Chalfant, Morgan. 2019. "FBI's Wray says most domestic terrorism arrests this year involve white supremacy." *The Hill.* July 23. Available at: https://thehill.com/homenews/ administration/454338-fbis-wray-says-majority-of-domestic-terrorism-arrests-this-year
- Cohn, Carol, ed. 2013. Women and Wars. Cambridge, MA: Polity.
- Cohen, Barbara and Waqas Tufail. 2017. "Prevent and the Normalization of Islamophobia." In Farah Elahi and Omar Khan, eds. *Islamophobia: Still a Challenge for Us All.* London, UK: Runnymede, pp. 41-45. Available at: www.runnymedetrust.org/uploads/Islamophobia%20Report%202018%20FINAL.pdf
- Conte, Martina. 2018. *Die Grenzen der Präventivhaft gemäss Schweizerischer Strafprozessordnung*. Zürich, Switzerland: Schulthess Juristische Medien AG.
- Coomaraswamy, Radhika. 2015. *Preventing Conflict, Transforming Justice, Securing the Peace: A Global Study on the Implementation of United Nations Security Council Resolution 1325*. New York: UN Women. Available at: https://www.peacewomen.org/sites/default/files/UNW-GLOBAL-STUDY-1325-2015%20(1).pdf
- Donnenfeld, Zachary. 2019. "Drone Strikes a Growing Threat to African Civilians." Nairobi, Kenya: Institute of Security Studies. Available at: www.issafrica.org/iss-today/drone-strikes-a-growing-threat-to-african-civilians
- Duke Law International Human Rights Clinic and Women Peacemakers Program. 2017. *Tightening the Purse Strings:*What Countering Terrorism Financing Costs Gender Equality and Security. Durham, NC: Duke University School of Law: Available at: www.law.duke.edu/sites/default/files/humanrights/tighteningpursestrings.pdf
- Fazli, Reza, Casey Johnson and Peyton Cooke. 2015. "Understanding and Countering Violent Extremism in Afghanistan." Washington, D.C.: United States Institute of Peace. Available at: www.usip.org/sites/default/files/SR379-Understanding-and-Countering-Violent-Extremism-in-Afghanistan.pdf
- Fink, Naureen Chowdhury, Sara Zeiger and Rafia Bhulai, eds. 2016. *A Man's World: Exploring the Roles of Women in Countering Terrorism and Violent Extremism.* Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates: Hedayah. Available at: www.globalcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/AMansWorld_FULL.pdf
- Fink, Naureen Chowdhury, Rafia Barakat and Liat Shetret. 2013. "The Roles of Women in Terrorism, Conflict, and Violent Extremism: Lessons for the United Nations and International Actors." Goshen, IN: Center on Global Counterterrorism Cooperation. Available at: www.globalcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/13Apr11_Women-and-Terrorism-Prevention_Final.pdf
- GAPS (Gender Action for Peace and Security). 2018. "Prioritise Peace: Challenging Approaches to Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism from a Women, Peace and Security Perspective." London, UK: GAPS. Available at: www.gaps-uk.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/GAPS-report_Prioritise-Peace-Challenging-Approaches-to-P-CVE-from-a-WPS-perspective.pdf
- GCERF (Global Community Engagement and Resilience Fund). 2017. Strategy to Engage Communities and Address the Drivers of Violent Extremism (2017-2020). Geneva, Switzerland: GCERF. Available at: www.gcerf.org/wp-content/uploads/GCERF-Strategy-2017-2020.pdf

- Gentry, Caron E. and Laura Sjoberg. 2011. "The Gendering of Women's Terrorism." In Sjoberg and Gentry, eds. *Women, Gender and Terrorism.* Athens, GA: The University of Georgia Press.
- Geuskens, Isabelle, Lia van Broekhoven, Carolyn Boyd Tomasovic and Anjuman Ara Begum. 2015. "Counterterrorism Measures and their Effects on the Implementation of the Women, Peace and Security Agenda." Women Peace Makers Program (WPP). https://www.peacewomen.org/sites/default/files/Policy-brief-CTM.pdf
- Giscard d'Estaing, Sophie. 2017. "Engaging Women in Countering Violent Extremism: Avoiding Instrumentalization and Furthering Agency." *Gender and Development* 25(1): 103-118. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13552074.2017.1279823
- Gitau, Judy. 2017. *Civil-Military Relations in an Era of Violent Extremism: Policy Options for The Kenya Defense Forces.*Nairobi, Kenya: Centre for Human Rights and Policy Studies. Available at: www.chrips.or.ke/publications/policy-brief/civil-military-relations-in-an-era-of-violent-extremism/
- Hamid, Zarin and Sarah Werner. 2019. "Sexual Violence in Conflict: Rooted in Gender Inequality and Structural Violence." WILPF. April 23. Available at: https://www.peacewomen.org/security-council/security-council-open-debate-sexual-violence-conflict-april-2019
- Harvard Humanitarian Initiative. 2018. *Fragile Future: The Human Cost of Conflict in Afghanistan*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Humanitarian Initiative. Available at: www.acbar.org/upload/1543728384285.pdf
- Haspeslagh, Sophie. 2013. "Listing Terrorists': The Impact of Proscription on Third-Party Efforts to Engage Armed Groups in Peace Processes A Practitioner's Perspective." *Critical Studies on Terrorism* 6(1): 189-208. Available at: www.doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2013.765706
- Holmer, Georgia. 2018. "Countering Violent Extremism: A Peacebuilding Perspective." Washington, D.C.: United States Institute of Peace. Available at: https://www.usip.org/sites/default/files/SR336-Countering%20Violent%20 Extremism-A%20Peacebuilding%20Perspective.pdf
- Horowitz, Jonathan. 2013. "We're Tired of Taking You to the Court": Human Rights Abuses by Kenya's Anti-Terrorism Police Unit. New York: Open Society Foundations. Available at: www.justiceinitiative.org/uploads/08088935-9bbe-4504-b823-ea4b4743964f/human-rights-abuses-by-kenya-atpu-20140220.pdf
- Huckerby, Jayne. 2015. "Gender, Violent Extremism, and Countering Violent Extremism." *Just Security*. March 3. Available at: www.justsecurity.org/20620/gender-violent-extremism-countering-violent-extremism-cve/
- Human Rights Watch. 2012. *Criminal Reprisals: Kenyan Police and Military Abuses against Ethnic Somalis*. New York: HRW. Available at: www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/kenya0512webwcover.pdf
- Human Rights Watch. 2016. *Deaths and Disappearances: Abuses in Counterterrorism Operations in Nairobi and in Northeastern Kenya*. New York: Human Rights Watch. Available at: www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/kenya0716web_1.pdf
- Human Rights Watch. 2007. *Off the Record: U.S. Responsibility for Enforced Disappearance in the 'War on Terror.*' New York: Human Rights Watch. Available at: www.hrw.org/legacy/backgrounder/usa/ct0607/ct0607web.pdf
- Hussain, Salman. 2019a. "Violence, Law, and the Archive: How Dossiers of Memory Challenge Enforced Disappearance in the War on Terror in Pakistan." *Political and Legal Anthropology Review* 42(1): 53-67. Available at: https://anthrosource.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/plar.12280
- Hussain, Suhauna. 2019b. "Deadly violence heightens concerns about domestic terrorism and white supremacists." *Los Angeles Times*. Aug 3. Available at: https://www.latimes.com/world-nation/story/2019-08-02/ domestic-terrorism-white-supremacy

- IDAG 1325. 2015. "Bericht der IDAG 1325 über die Umsetzung des Nationalen Aktionsplans zu Frauen, Frieden und Sicherheit." Umsetzungsphase 2014. Schweizerische Eidgenossenschaft, Eidgenössisches Departement für auswärtige Angelegenheiten, Politische Direktion, Abteilung Menschliche Sicherheit. Available at: https://www.eda.admin.ch/dam/eda/de/documents/aussenpolitik/menschenrechte-menschliche-sicherheit/
 September-2015-Bericht-IDAG-1325-Umsetzung-phase-2014-Nationalen-Aktionsplan_DE.pdf
- IDAG 1325. 2017. "Bericht über die Umsetzung des Nationalen Aktionsplans zu Frauen, Frieden und Sicherheit (NAP 1325). Umsetzungsphase 2015-2016. Schweizerische Eidgenossenschaft, Eidgenössisches Departement für auswärtige Angelegenheiten, Politische Direktion, Abteilung Menschliche Sicherheit. Available at: www.eda.admin.ch/dam/eda/de/documents/aussenpolitik/menschenrechte-menschliche-sicherheit/ bericht-nap-1325-2015-2016_DE.pdf
- International Commission of Jurists (ICJ). 2015. *Enforced Disappearances and Extrajudicial Executions: Investigation and Sanction, A Practitioners Guide*. Geneva, Switzerland: ICJ. Available at: https://www.refworld.org/ pdfid/586e6fc44.pdf
- Jilani, Yusuf. 2016. "The Struggle of the Veiled Woman: 'White Savior Complex' and Rising Islamophobia Create a Two-Fold Plight." *Harvard International Review* 37(2): 51-54.
- Juma, Monica Kathina. 2000. *Unveiling Women as Pillars of Peace: Peacebuilding in Communities Fractured by Conflict in Kenya*. New York: UNDP. Available at: www.onlinewomeninpolitics.org/beijing12/women_peace.pdf
- Kabongah, George, ed. 2011. *Women and Conflict: Strengthening the Agenda for Peacebuilding in Kenya*. Nairobi, Kenya: Maendeleo Ya Wanawake Organisation. Available at: www.academia.edu/4349053/ Women_Conflict_and_Peacebuilding_in_Kenya
- Kenya. 2016. *National Action Plan for the Implementation of United Nations Security Council Resolution 1325 and Related Resolutions (2016-2018)*. Available at: https://www.peacewomen.org/sites/default/files/Kenya%20 https://www.peacewomen.org/sites/default/files/Kenya%20
- Kenya National Commission on Human Rights (KNCHR). 2015. *The Error of Fighting Terror with Terror.* Nairobi, Kenya: KNCHR. Available at: www.knchr.org/Portals/0/CivilAndPoliticalReports/Final%20Disappearances%20 report%20pdf.pdf
- Kenya National Commission on Human Rights (KNCHR). 2014. *Return of the Gulag: Report of KNCHR Investigations on Operation Usalama Watch.* Nairobi, Kenya: KNCHR. Available at: https://www.knchr.org/Portals/0/CivilAndPoliti-calReports/Report%20of%20KNCHR%20investigations%20on%20Operation%20Usalama%20Watch.
 pdf?ver=2018-06-06-194906-830
- Krähenmann, Sandra. Forthcoming. "Foreign fighters, terrorism and counter-terrorism." In B. Saud (ed.) *International Law and Terrorism*. Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Kundnani, Arun. 2014. *The Muslims are Coming! Islamophobia, Extremism, and the Domestic War on Terror.* London, UK: Verso Books.
- Kundnani, Arun and Ben Hayes. 2018. *The Globalisation of Countering Violent Extremism Policies: Undermining Human Rights, Instrumentalising Civil Society.* Amsterdam, Netherlands: Transnational Institute. Available at: www.tni.org/files/publication-downloads/the_globalisation_of_countering_violent_extremism_policies.pdf
- Lakhani, Suraj. 2011. "Preventing Violent Extremism: Perceptions of Policy from Grassroots and Communities." *The Howard Journal of Criminal Justice* 51(2): 190-206. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2311.2011.00685.x
- Levin, Brian. 2019. "Why White Supremacist Attacks Are on the Rise, Even in Surprising Places." *Time.* March 21. Available at: https://time.com/5555396/white-supremacist-attacks-rise-new-zealand/

- LSE Centre for Women, Peace and Security. 2017. "Preventing/Countering Violent Extremism and WPS: Concepts, Practices and Moving Forward." Key Issues Report. www.lse.ac.uk/women-peace-security/assets/documents/2017/LSE-WPS-PCVE-Key-Issues-Report.pdf
- Malet, David. 2013. Foreign Fighters: Transnational Identity in Civil Conflicts. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Mazurana, Dyan. 2013. "Women, Girls, and Non-State Armed Opposition Groups." In Carol Cohn, ed. 2013. *Women and Wars*. Cambridge, MA: Polity, pp. 146-168.
- Mercy Corps. 2016. "Motivations and Empty Promises" Voices of Former Boko Haram Combatants and Nigerian Youth. Portland, OR: Mercy Corps. Available at: www.mercycorps.org/sites/default/files/Motivations%20and%20 Empty%20Promises_Mercy%20Corps_Full%20Report_0.pdf
- Michel, Amber. 2015. "Countering Violent Extremism: Islamophobia, the Department of Justice and American Islamic Organizations." *Islamophobia Studies Journal* 3(1): 127-137.
- Mutahi, Patrick. 2017. "Building a National Intelligence Service for a Democratic Society." Nairobi, Kenya: Center for Human Rights and Policy Studies. Available at: www.chrips.or.ke/publications/policy-brief/ building-a-national-intelligence-service-for-a-democratic-society/
- Nasser-Eddine, Minerva, Bridget Garnham, Katerina Agostino and Gilbert Caluya. 2011. *Countering Violent Extremism (CVE) Literature Review.* Edinburgh, Australia: Counter Terrorism and Security Technology Centre. Available at: www.apo.org.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/2011/03/apo-nid101921-1138111.pdf
- Ndung'u, Irene, Uyo Salifu and Romi Sigsworth. 2017. *Violent Extremism in Kenya: Why Women are a Priority.* Nairobi, Kenya: Institute for Security Studies. Available at: https://issafrica.org/research/monographs/ violent-extremism-in-kenya-why-women-are-a-priority
- Ní Aoláin, Fionnuala. 2013. "Situating Women in Counterterrorism Discourses: Undulating Masculinities and Luminal Femininities." *Boston University Law Review* 93(3): 1085-1122.
- Ní Aoláin, Fionnuala. 2015. "Counter-Terrorism Committee: Addressing the Role of Women in Countering Terrorism and Violent Extremism." *Just Security.* September 17. https://www.justsecurity.org/25983/ counter-terrorism-committee-addressing-role-women-countering-terrorism-violent-extremism/
- Ní Aoláin, Fionnuala. 2016. "The 'War on Terror' and Extremism: Assessing the Relevance of the Women, Peace and Security Agenda." *International Affairs* 92: 275-291.
- Ní Aoláin, Fionnuala and Jayne Huckerby. 2018a. "Gendering Counterterrorism: How to, and How Not to Part I." *Just Security*. May 1. Available at: www.justsecurity.org/55522/gendering-counterterrorism-to/
- Ní Aoláin, Fionnuala and Jayne Huckerby. 2018b. "Gendering Counterterrorism: How to, and How Not to Part II." *Just Security*. May 3. www.justsecurity.org/55670/gendering-counterterrorism-to-part-ii/
- Nyabola, Nanjala. 2018. "The Killing Fields of Mathare: Extrajudicial executions and the grassroots group that is documenting them." *The Elephant*. Feb 22. Available at: www.theelephant.info/features/2018/02/22/ the-killing-fields-of-mathare-extrajudicial-executions-and-the-grassroots-group-that-is-documenting-them/
- Nyagah, Thomas, James Mwangi and Larry Attree. 2017. *Inside Kenya's War on Terror: The Case of Lamu*. London, UK: Saferworld. Available at: www.saferworld.org.uk/long-reads/inside-kenyaas-war-on-terror-the-case-of-lamu
- O'Farrell, Kloé Tricot. 2019. "A war of words: why counter-messaging to prevent 'violent extremism' is counter-productive." London, UK: Saferworld. Available at: www.saferworld.org.uk/resources/news-and-analysis/ post/827-a-war-of-words-why-counter-messaging-to-prevent-aviolent-extremisma-is-counter-productive

- O'Farrell, Kloé Tricot and Jordan Street. 2019. "A Threat Inflated? The Countering and Preventing Violent Extremism Agenda in Kyrgyzstan." London, UK: Saferworld. Available at: www.saferworld.org.uk/ www.saferworld.org.uk/ www.saferworld.org.uk/
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. n.d. *Human Rights, Terrorism and Counter-Ter-rorism.* Human Rights Fact Sheet No. 32. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations Office. Available at: www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/Factsheet32EN.pdf
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. n.d. *Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances*. Human Rights Fact Sheet No. 6/Rev.3. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations Office Available at: www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FactSheet6Rev3.pdf
- Ogada, Mikewa. 2017. "A Policy Content Evaluation of Kenya's National Strategy to Counter Violent Extremism." Nairobi, Kenya: Centre for Human Rights and Policy Studies. Available at: www.chrips.or.ke/ download/a-policy-content-evaluation-of-kenyas-national-strategy-to-counter-violent-extremism/
- Orakzai, Saira Bano. 2016. "Islamophobia in Switzerland: National Report 2015." In Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds. European Islamophobia Report 2015. Istanbul, Turkey: Foundation for Political, Economic and Social Research (SETA). Available at: www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/EIR_2017.pdf
- Omilo, Eugene. 2019. "Senate panel hears chilling tales of extra-judicial killings." *The Star.* April 9. Available at: www. the-star.co.ke/news/2019-04-09-senate-panel-hears-chilling-tales-of-extra-judicial-killings/
- Perry, Barbara. 2012. "Gendered Islamophobia: Hate Crime Against Muslim Women." Social Identities 20(1): 74-89.
- Peters, Alison. 2015. "Creating Inclusive National Strategies to Counter Violent Extremism." Washington, D.C.: The Institute for Inclusive Security. Available at: www.inclusivesecurity.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/CVE_Policy_Recommendations_Brief.pdf
- Privacy International. 2017. *Track, Capture, Kill: Inside Communications Surveillance and Counterterrorism in Kenya.*London, UK: Privacy International. Available at: https://privacyinternational.org/sites/default/files/2017-10/
 https://privacyinternational.org/sites/default/files/2017-10/
- Reed, Alastair, Haroro J. Ingram and Joe Whittaker. 2017. *Countering Terrorist Narratives*. Brussels, Belgium: European Union. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326579732_Countering_Terrorist_Narratives
- Sabir, Rizwaan. 2016. *Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism through Civil, Political, and Human Rights.*Submission to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. Available at: www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/RuleOfLaw/PCVE/Rizwaan_Sabir.pdf
- Saeed, Amir. 2007. "Media, Racism and Islamophobia: The Representation of Islam and Muslims in the Media." *Sociology Compass* 1(2): 443-462.
- Saeed, Tania. 2016. Islamophobia and Securitization: Religion, Ethnicity and the Female Voice. London, UK: Palgrave.
- Saeed, Tania. 2018. Working Definition of Islamophobia/Anti-Muslim Hatred. Prepared in Response to the Call for Evidence from the All-Party Parliamentary Group on British Muslims. Available at: www.academia. edu/37889230/_Working_Definition_of_Islamophobia_Anti-Muslim_hatred_prepared_in_response_to_the_Call_for_Evidence_from_the_All-Party_Parliamentary_Group_on_British_Muslims_and_Rt_Hon_Anna_Soubry_MP_Chair_and_Wes_Streeting_MP_Co-Chair
- Saferworld. 2017. *We need to talk about Egypt: How Brutal 'Counter-terrorism' is Failing Egypt and its allies.* London, UK: Saferworld. Available at: https://www.saferworld.org.uk/resources/news-and-analysis/post/739-
- Savage, Charlie. 2019. "Trump Revokes Obama-Era Rule on Disclosing Civilian Casualties From U.S. Airstrikes Outside War Zones." *The New York Times*, March 6. Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/06/us/politics/trump-civilian-casualties-rule-revoked.html

- Salifu, Uyo and Irene Ndung'u. 2017. *Preventing Violent Extremism in Kenya: Why Women's Needs Matter.* Nairobi, Kenya: Institute for Security Studies. Available at: https://issafrica.org/research/east-africa-report/ preventing-violent-extremism-in-kenya-why-womens-needs-matter
- Satterthwaite, Margaret L. and Jayne C. Huckerby, eds. 2013. *Gender, National Security, and Counter-Terrorism.* (Human Rights Perspectives). Milton Park, UK: Taylor and Francis. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203081396
- Schlaffer, Edit and Ulrich Kropiunigg. 2016. "A New Security Architecture: Mothers Included!" In Naureen Chowdhury Fink, Sara Zeiger and Rafia Bhulai, eds. *A Man's World: Exploring the Roles of Women in Countering Terrorism and Violent Extremism.* Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates: Hedayah. Available at: https://www.globalcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/AMansWorld_FULL.pdf
- Schwartz, Stephanie. 2010. "When Is International Peacemaking Illegal? Implications of the 2010 Supreme Court Decision in Holder v. Humanitarian Law Project." Washington, D.C.: United States Institute of Peace. Available at: http://catalog.library.ks.gov/eg/opac/record/76175
- Shafiq, Aysha. 2013. "The War on Terror and the Enforced Disappearances in Pakistan." *Human Rights Review* 14(4): 387-404.
- Shane, Scott, Matthew Rosenberg and Eric Lipton. 2017. "Trump Pushes Dark view of Islam to Center of U.S. Policy-Making." *The New York Times.* February 1. Available at: www.nytimes.com/2017/02/01/us/politics/donald-trump-islam.html
- Shepherd, Laura J. 2016. "Making War Safe for Women?: National Action Plans and the Militarisation of the Women, Peace and Security Agenda." *International Political Science Review* 37(3): 324-335.
- Switzerland. 2017. *National Action Plan to Prevent and Counter Radicalisation and Violent Extremism*. Bern, Switzerland: Swiss Security Network. Available at: www.newsd.admin.ch/newsd/message/attachments/50703.pdf
- Switzerland. 2015. *Swiss Counter-terrorism Strategy*. Bern, Switzerland: Federal Council. Available at: www.admin.ch/ opc/de/federal-gazette/2015/7487.pdf
- Switzerland. 2016. Switzerland's Foreign Policy Action Plan on Preventing Violent Extremism. Bern, Switzerland: Federal Department of Foreign Affairs. Available at: www.news.admin.ch/NSBSubscriber/message/attachments/43587. pdf
- Switzerland. 2018. Switzerland's Fourth National Actional Action Plan to Implement Security Council Resolution 1325 (2018-2022). Bern, Switzerland: Federal Department of Foreign Affairs. Available at: www.eda.admin.ch/dam/eda/en/documents/publications/Friedenspolitik/Frauen-Frieden-und-Sicherheit_en.pdf
- Tayler, Letta. 2017. *Overreach: How New Global Counterterrorism Measures Jeopardize Rights*. New York: Human Rights Watch. Available at: www.hrw.org/world-report/2017/country-chapters/global
- Todeschini, Mara. 2019. *Terrorismusbekämpfung im Strafrecht: Eine Erörterung des Art. 260ter StGB und des Al Qaïda/ISGesetzessowie zur Diskussion stehender Gesetzesanpassungen.* Zürich, CH: Schulthess Juristische Medien AG.
- UNESCO. 2016. "A Teachers Guide on the Prevention of Violent Extremism." Paris, France: UNESCO. Available at: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000244676
- United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW). 2016. *Concluding Observations on the Combined Fourth and Fifth Periodic Reports of Switzerland (18 November 2016)* CEDAW/C/CHE/CO/4-5. Available at: www.undocs.org/CEDAW/C/CHE/CO/4-5

- United Nations Development Programme. 2017. *Journey to Extremism in Africa: Drivers, Incentives and the Tipping Point for Recruitment*. New York: United Nations Development Programme. Available at: www.undp.org/content/dam/denmark/docs/Journey%20to%20Extremism_report.pdf
- United Nations General Assembly. 2015. *Plan of Action to Prevent Violent Extremism (24 December 2015)*. A/70/674. Available at: www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/70/674
- United Nations General Assembly. 2009. *Protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms while countering terrorism (3 August 2009)*. A/64/211. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/64/211
- United Nations General Assembly. 2018. *Report of the Special Rapporteur on freedom of religion of belief (4 September 2018)*. A/73/45410. Available at: www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Religion/A_73_45410.docx
- United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. 2008. Fact Sheet No. 32, Human Rights, Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism. Available at: www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/Factsheet32EN.pdf
- United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner. n.d. *International Convention for the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance*. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/hrbodies/ced/pages/conventionced.aspx
- United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner. 2019. "UN expert urges efforts from France for the return of 7 nationals awaiting execution in Iraq." 12 August. Available at: www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24887&LangID=E
- United Nations Human Rights Council. 2019. *Impact of measures to address terrorism and violence extremism on civic space and the rights of civil society actors and human rights defenders (1 March 2019).* A/HRC/40/52. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/HRC/40/52
- United Nations Human Rights Council. 2015. Resolution 30/15: *Human rights and preventing and countering violent extremism* (12 October 2015). A/HRC/RES/30/15. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/HRC/RES/30/15
- United Nations Human Rights Council. 2016. *Report of the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms while countering terrorism (29 April 2016)*. A/HRC/31/65. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/HRC/31/65
- United Nations Security Council. 2000. *Security Council Resolution 1325.* 31 October 2000. S/RES/1325. Available at: http://unscr.com/en/resolutions/doc/1325
- United Nations Security Council. 2015. *Security Council Resolution 2242*. 13 October 2015. S/RES/2242. Available at: http://unscr.com/en/resolutions/doc/2242
- United Nations Security Council. 2014. Statement by the President of the Security Council (28 October 2014). S/ PRST/2014/21. Available at: https://undocs.org/S/PRST/2014/21
- United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs. 2019. "Burkina Faso, Mali and Western Niger: Humanitarian Snapshot." Available at: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/20190809_BFA_MLI_NER_humanitarian%20snapshot_en.pdf
- United Nations Security Council Counter-Terrorism Committee Executive Directorate. 2019. *Gender Dimensions of the Response to Returning Foreign Terrorist Fighters: Research Perspectives*. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations Security Council. Available at: www.un.org/sc/ctc/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Feb_2019_CTED_Trends_Report.pdf.

- United States Department of State. 2018. "Mali." In *Country Reports on Terrorism* 2017. Washington, D.C.: United States Department of State. Available at: www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/crt_2017.pdf
- Wassholm, Christina. 2018. Suffocating the Movement: *Shrinking Space for Women's Rights.* Johanneshov, Sweden: Kvinna till Kvinna. Available at: https://kvinnatillkvinna.org/2018/10/05/suffocating-the-movement/
- Winterbotham, Emily. 2017. "Do Mothers Know Best? How Assumptions Harm CVE." London, UK: Tony Blair Institute for Global Change. Available at: https://institute.global/sites/default/files/articles/Do-Mothers-Know-Best-How-Assumptions-Harm-CVE.pdf
- Working Group 1325. 2016. *Women, Peace and Security: Reloaded.* Bern, Switzerland: Working Group 1325. Available at: www.swisspeace.ch/fileadmin/user_upload/Media/Publications/Report_Women_Peace_Security_reloaded_EN_online.pdf
- Zenn, Jacob and Kathleen Kuehnast. 2014. "Preventing Violent Extremism in Kyrgyzstan." Washington, D.C.: United States Institute of Peace. Available at: www.usip.org/publications/2014/10/ preventing-violent-extremism-kyrgyzstan

This report is the result of extensive desk-based research, interviews, and continuous discussions with civil society organizations (CSOs) and experts on Women, Peace and Security (WPS) and Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism (P/CVE). The genesis for this report emerged in 2016, when the Swiss civil society Working Group (WG) 1325 raised the need to critically assess the linking of the WPS and P/CVE agendas in the independent alternative report *Women, Peace and Security: Reloaded.* Thus, in the context of the fourth Swiss National Action Plan (NAP) 1325, which names Preventing Violent Extremism (PVE) as a key priority within its "prevention pillar," Swiss civil society seeks to better understand the potential ramifications of integrating the WPS and P/CVE agendas. As such, the project, "Civil Society Contribution to the Implementation of the Swiss NAP 1325," has consulted with civil society experts within Switzerland and beyond to determine how the WPS agenda can promote a concept of violence prevention that is grounded in the principles of peacebuilding and human rights and which contributes to WPS objectives of women's empowerment and gender equality.

In Cooperation with the:

